PHYTOCHEMICAL COMPOSITION, CYTOTOXICITY AND TOXICOLOGICAL STUDIES OF *ROSMARINUS OFFICINALIS, CATHARANTHUS ROSEUS* AND *MYRSINE AFRICANA* CRUDE EXTRACTS

Zelipha N Kabubii

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment for award of Master of Science degree in Natural Products and Bioprospecting, Department of Public Health, Pharmacology and Toxicology, University of Nairobi

DECLARATION

This thesis is my original work and has not been presented for a degree in any other University.

Zelipha N Kabubii

Signature.....Date....

This work has been submitted for examination with our approval as University Supervisors.

Dr. Mbaabu Mathiu (BVM, Ph.D.)

Department of Veterinary Anatomy and Physiology Faculty of Veterinary Medicine (University of Nairobi)

Signature Date

DEDICATION

To my entire family: My loving husband, Munene, dear children: Oscar, Moses and Abigail. I also wish to dedicate this work to my yet to come grandchildren.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Jehovah, my God is a good God and He gives us grace to perform any responsibility we dedicate to him and I acknowledge Him above all. My appreciations goes to; my supervisors Prof. James Mbaria and Dr. Mbaabu Mathiu for their guidance. I acknowledge the chairman, Department of Public Health, Pharmacology and Toxicology, Professor Jackson Ombui, for all the support he has given in order to accomplish this piece of work. I am so grateful to Mr. Joseph Mwaniki and Dr. Ojoo Rodi for their guidance in animal safety and ethics. I cannot forget the contributions of Dr. Samuel Githigia and Professor Daniel Gakuya in my elementally stage of proposal development. Much appreciation goes to the chairman and technologists of Clinical Studies Department, University of Nairobi for their support. I am appreciative to the chairman, Department of Biochemistry Prof. Peter Kinyanjui and the Principal Technologist, Mr. Kennedy Muinamia for all the help the department accorded me. I am so thankful to Mr. George Njau for his timely support and not forgetting my family which has been very supportive in moral and financial help. These are just but a few; many others contributed to the accomplishment of this thesis. God's blessings are upon all.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

DECLARATION	ii
DEDICATION	iii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	iv
LIST OF TABLES	ix
LIST OF FIGURES	x
ABBREVIATIONS AND ACRONYMS	xi
ABSTRACT	xii
CHAPTER ONE	1
1.0 INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 Background information	1
1.2 Problem statement	3
1.3 Justification	3
1.4 Objectives	4
1.4.1 General objective	4
1.4.2 Specific Objective	4
CHAPTER TWO	5
2.0 LITERATURE REVIEW	5
2.1 Natural Products	5
2.2 Natural products from the marine	6
2.3 Historical background of evolvement of natural products.	7
2.4 Natural products industry in Kenya	8
2.5 Some Selected Kenyan natural products in the development pipeline	10
2.6 Therapeutic areas amenable to natural products	11
2.6.1 Infectious diseases	11
2.6.1.1 Fungal pathogens	11
2.6.1.2 Viral pathogens	11
2.6.2 Oncology	11
2. 6. 3 Other therapeutic areas	12
2.6.3.1 Cardiovascular and endocrinology	12
2.6.3.2 Inflammation.	12
2.7 Ethnomedicine	13

2.8 Phytochemicals	14
2.8.1 Alkaloids	16
2.8.2 Terpenes	17
2.8.3 Flavonoids	17
2.8.4 Saponins	17
2.8.5. Glycosides	18
2.8.6 Anthraquinones	19
2.8.7 Tannins	19
2.8.8 Reducing sugars	20
2.9 Toxicity of natural products	20
2.10 Examples of natural products that have recorded potential toxicity	21
2.11 Acute toxicity testing	22
2.11.1 Significance of acute toxicity tests	22
2.12 Sub-acute toxicity	23
2.13 Cell-based cytotoxicity tests and significance of bioassays	24
2.14 Effects of toxicity to an organism	24
2.15 Catharanthus roseus	25
2.15.1 Description of the plant	25
2.15.2 Uses of <i>C. roseus</i>	27
2.16 Myrsine africana	27
2.16.1 Plant description and distribution	27
2.16.2 Uses of <i>M. africana</i>	28
2.17 Rosmarinus officinalis (rosemary)	29
2.17.1 Plant description and distribution	29
2.17.2 Uses of <i>R. officinalis</i>	30
CHAPTER THREE	32
3.0 MATERIALS AND METHODS	32
3.1 Collection and identification of plant materials	32
3.2 Extraction of plants materials: aqueous extracts	32
3.3 Acute toxicity test for R. officinalis, M. africana and C. roseus aqueous extracts	33
3.3.1 Laboratory animals	33
3.3.2 Baseline parameters assessment	33

3.3.3 Oral acute toxicity testing	34
3.3.4 Experimental design for oral acute toxicity testing	34
3.3.5. Animal bleeding, hematological and biochemical assays	35
3.4 Sub-acute toxicity studies of <i>R. officinalis</i>	36
3.4.1 Experimental design in sub-acute toxicity studies of <i>R. officinalis</i>	36
3.4.2 Blood collection and subsequent blood parameter measurements	36
3.4.3 Procedure for differential white blood cells count	37
3.4.4 Organs harvesting	37
3.4.5 Statistical analysis	37
3.5 Brine shrimp (Artemia salina) cytotoxicity test of the 3 plant extracts	38
3.5.1 Extract preparations for brine shrimp assay	38
3.5.2 Culturing and harvesting of A. salina	38
3.5.3 Preparation of test extracts and the controls	39
3.5.4 Brine shrimps bioassay.	
3.6 Statistical analysis to determine brine shrimps LC_{50} of the extracts	40
3.7 Phytochemical screening	40
3.7.1 Test for anthraquinones	40
3.7.2 Test for terpenoids (Salkowski test)	40
3.7.3 Test for flavonoids	40
3.7.4 Test for reducing sugars (Fehling's test)	41
3.7.5 Test for saponins	41
3.7.6 Test for tannins	41
3.7.7 Test for alkaloids	42
3.7.8 Test for cardiac glycosides (Keller-Killiani test)	42
CHAPTER FOUR	43
4.0 RESULTS	43
4.1 Cage side observations:	43
4.2 Hematological and biochemical results in acute toxicity	43
4.2.1 Hematological results in acute toxicity	44
4.2.2 Biochemical results in acute toxicity of albino Wistar Rats	51
4.2.3 Total weight gain	55
4.3 Sub-Acute results	56

4.3.1 Observations in sub-acute testing of <i>R. officinalis</i> in Wistar rats	56
4.3.2 Hematological analysis in sub-acute toxicity.	56
4.3.3 Biochemical parameter analysis in Sub-acute toxicity of R. officinalis.	59
4.3.4. Mean weight change in sub-acute toxicity testing of <i>R. officinalis</i>	61
4.3.4.1 Organ weights	61
4.4 Results of brine shrimp assay for the 3 plants organic and the aqueous extracts	63
4.4.1Analysis of brine shrimp assay	63
4.4.1.1 Controls	63
4.4.1.2 Brine shrimp cytotoxicity in n-hexane extract	63
4.4.1.3 Brine shrimp cytotoxicity in dicloromethane (DCM) extracts	64
4.4.1.4 Brine shrimp cytotoxicity in DCM: methanol (1:1)	64
4.4.1.5 Brine shrimp cytotoxicity in methanol:water extract (95:5)	64
4.5 Phytochemical Results	67
CHAPTER FIVE	68
5. DISCUSSION, CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS	68
5.1 Discussion	68
5.2 Conclusion	82
5.3 Recommedation	85
REFERENCES	86
APPENDICES	111
Appendix 1: Approval Letter of Biosafety, Animal use and Ethics Committee	111
APPENDIX 2: Brine shrimp assay for 4 organic extracts and one aqueous extract	112
Appendix 3: Baseline Parameters	115

LIST OF TABLES

Table 2.1: Natural products in development pipeline in Kenya	10
Table 2.2: Natural products with potential toxicity:	21
Table 4.1: Aqueous extract yields	43
Table 4.2: showing the non-significant effects of hemoglobin by the plants extracts	50
Table 4.3: showing the non-significant effects of MCH by the plants extracts	50
Table 4.4: showing the non-significant effects of total proteins by the 3 plants	
extracts in acute toxicity	55
Table 4.5: Hematological parameters at 14 th day in sub-acute toxicity	57
Table 4.6: hematological parameters at 28 th day in sub-acute toxicity	58
Table 4.7: Differential cells count in sub-acute toxicity of <i>R. officinalis</i> of the 3 doses	59
Neutrophils	59
Table 4.8: showing non-significantly different mean AST, creatinine and urea levels in sul	b-
acute toxicity	61
Table 4.9: Percentage extraction yields for organic extraction:	63
Table 4.10: LC ₅₀ of different extracts of C. roseus, M. africana and R. officinalis	63
Table 4.11: showing phytochemical results of C. roseus, M. africana and R. officinalis cru	de
extracts	67

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 2.1: A photograph of aerial part of <i>Catharanthus roseus</i>
Figure 2.2: A photograph showing an aerial part of <i>Myrsine africana</i>
Figure 2.3: A photograph of aerial part of Rosmarinus Officinalis
Figure 4.1: Effects of white blood cells counts by the 3 plants extracts
Figure 4.2: Effects of red blood cells counts by the 3 plants extracts
Figure 4.3: Effects of packed cells volume by the 3 plants extracts:
Figure 4.4: Effect of the mean corpuscular volume by plants extracts in acute toxicity
Figure 4.5: Effects of the mean corpuscular hemoglobin concentration by the plants extracts in acute toxicity
Figure 4.6: Effects of thrombocytes count by the 3 plants extracts in acute toxicity
Figure 4.7: Effects of alanine aminotransferase by the 3 plants extracts in acute toxicity
Figure 4.8: effects of aspartate aminotransferase by the 3 plants extracts in acute toxicity 52
Figure 4.9: Effects of serum creatinine by the 3 plants extracts in acute toxicity
Figure 4.10: Effects of serum urea by the 3 plants extracts in acute toxicity
Figure 4.11: percentage weight gain of rats treated with the 3 plants extracts in acute toxicity 56
Figure 4.12: Alanine aminotransferase: in sub-acute toxicity of <i>R. officinalis</i> of the three doses
Figure 4.13: Total proteins in sub-acute toxicity testing of <i>R. officinalis</i> of the three dose 60
Figure 4.14: Weight profile in sub-acute toxicity testing of <i>R.officinalis</i> of the three doses 62
Figure 4.15: Effects on absolute organ weight ratios in different treatment groups in sub- acute toxicity testing of <i>R. officinalis</i>
Figure 4.16: Mortality of brine shrimps in different extraction solvents of the C. roseus

ABBREVIATIONS AND ACRONYMS

ACS	-	American Chemical Society
ALT	-	Alanine aminotransferase
ANOVA	-	Analysis of variance
AST	-	Aspartate aminotransferase
Bwt	-	Body weight
EFSA	-	European Food Security Authority
HB	-	Hemoglobin Concentration,
IDRC	-	International Development Research Centre
LC	-	Lethal concentration
LD	-	Lethal dose
MCH	-	Mean cell hemoglobin
MCHC	-	Mean corpuscular hemoglobin concentration
MCV	-	Mean corpuscular volume
NCAPD	-	National Coordinating Agency for Population and Development
NPs	-	Natural products
OECD	-	Organization of Economic Cooperation and Development
PCV	-	Packed cell volume
RBC	-	Red blood cells
RKRHCP	-	Republic of Kenya registration of herbal and complementary and
		natural products
Thromb.	-	Thrombocytes
WBC	-	White blood cells
WHO	-	World Health Organization

ABSTRACT

Natural medicinal products have gained recognition worldwide in the treatment and control of diseases. One of the major concerns is the lack of adequate pharmacological and toxicological data to support their use. Catharanthus roseus is a commonly used plant especially in the control of diabetes. Myrsine africana is traditionally used as veterinary and human anthelmintic while *Rosmarinus officinalis* is used as a spice for it has high antioxidant and other therapeutic properties. This study was carried out on the crude extracts of leaves of C.roseus, R. officinalis and dry seeds of M. africana to screen for their phytochemical composition. Oral acute toxicity and the effects on hematological and biochemical parameters of each of the plant extracts at doses of 1000 and 5000 mg/kg body weight were determined. Male albino Wistar rats were used as the Organization for Economic Co-Operation and Development (OECD) guidance document 423 recommends use of one sex animals. A control group was given distilled water. A 28 day repeated oral administration of freeze dried aqueous extract of R. officinalis on four groups of Wistar rats at dosages 0, 500, 1500 and 3000 mg/kg body weight (bwt) was carried out to evaluate the plants sub-acute toxicity. The cytotoxicity and lethality effects on the brine shrimps (Artemia salina) in four organic and an aqueous extracts of each of the three plants was studied using concentrations 10, 100, 1000 µg/ml of each extract as described by Meyer et al., 1982. Brine shrimp median lethal concentration (LC₅₀₎ for each extract was calculated using a regression line of probit against log concentration. The phytochemical analysis showed presence of 5 types of bioactive compounds namely terpenoids, tannins, anthraquinones, alkaloids and reducing sugar in Catharanthus roseus. Terpenoids, tannins, flavonoids, saponins and reducing sugars were also found present in Myrsine africana extract. Rosmarinus officinalis extract contained terpenoids, tannins, cardiac glycosides, flavonoids, reducing sugars and saponins. The median lethal dose (LD50) of the aqueous extracts for each of the three plant extracts in albino Wistar rats was estimated to be > 5000 mg/kg body weight. Alanine aminotransferase (ALAT), aspartate aminotransferase (AST), urea, White blood cells (WBC) and mean corpuscular volume (MCV) were significantly elevated in the groups treated with. C. roseus extract (p<0.05), but thrombocytes and percentage weight gain were significantly reduced in these groups. Red blood cells (RBC), packed cell volume, (PCV), mean corpuscular

hemoglobin concentration, (MCHC), AST and serum urea were significantly elevated in the groups given M. africana extract. ALAT both at 1000 and 5000mg/kg body weight of R. officinalis treated groups were significantly reduced at 48 hours but at 14 days they had normalized to baseline values. Sub-acute toxicity testing of R. officinalis aqueous extract showed no significant difference of hematological and biochemical parameters at 500 and1500 mg/kg body weight both at 14 and 28 days testing. Significant elevation of WBC, percentage lymphocytes and ALAT at 3000 mg/kg body weight when compared with the control was reported both at days 14 and 28 testing (P < 0.05). Methanolic extracts of M. *africana* and *C. roseus* showed very strong cytotoxicity to brine shrimps with LC_{50} of < 10µg/ml. Aqueous extract of *M. africana* did not cause significant cytotoxicity against the brine shrimp, with $LC_{50} > 1000 \mu g/ml$. It was concluded that the phytochemicals present in each plant extracts may be responsible for bioactivity effects that were recorded. It was also concluded that Myrsine africana and Catharanthus roseus are likely to cause acute renalhepatotoxicity and hematopoietic system toxicity at oral concentrations that were tested. This is explained by the elevated biochemical parameters (AST, ALAT, and urea) and the significantly altered hematological parameters. It was recommended that these plants should be used with care and at lower concentrations. Sub-acute and chronic toxicity testing of these plants is recommended in order to clearly establish the effects of repeated doses. Methanolic seed extract of *M. africana* is likely to have antitumor and insecticidal properties due to its high cytotoxicity and isolation of the constituent bringing this effect is recommended. The results of .R. officinalis toxicity studies indicate that the plant is not acutely toxic but prolong toxicity studies are recommended to confirm the safety of the plant.

CHAPTER ONE

1.0 INTRODUCTION

1.1 Background information

Since antiquity, man has used plants to treat common infectious diseases even long before mankind discovered the existence of microbes. 80% of population in the non-developed countries depends on traditional medicine for their primary health care (WHO, 2002: WHO, 2008). According to International Development Research Centre (IDRC), 85% of Africans use herbal remedies in their routine health care in Sub-Sahara Africa (Stanley, 2004). Although herbal medicine has been perceived by the public as relatively low risk, there has been more recognition of the potential risks associated with them as the use of (NPs) increase. Potential harm can occur via inherent toxicity of herbs, as well as from contamination, plant misidentification, and interactions with other herbal products or pharmaceutical drugs. Regulatory safety assessment for NPs relies on both the assessment of cases of adverse reactions and the review of published toxicity information effects (De Smet, 1995). The regulation of herbal medicine practice in Africa is still a major challenge (Madiba, 2010)

Plant compounds exhibit enormous structural diversity, unfortunately only a small proportion of that diversity has been seriously explored for pharmacological potential. Traditional medicine has a great potential of promoting livelihood and the priority focus is on safety/efficacy, conservation, domestication, production and commercialization. The global increase in demand for ethnoherbals is attributed to dissatisfaction with conventional medicine in terms of effectiveness, safety and accessibility. Phytochemical, pharmacological and toxicological standardization for medicinal plants need be instituted so that dosage levels can be described in an informed way.

Africa is home to an estimated 45,000 plant species, which is about one-fifth of the size of the world flora. About 4,500 (10%) of these plants are rare species, while 15,000 species are endemic to the continent. Madagascar, with about 13,000 plant species, has the highest (82%) endemicity. One-third of the 5,000 forest species in the continent are used in traditional medicine (Iwu, 1993). More than 4,000 plant species in tropical Africa are used for medicinal purposes, and research done in 2006 showed that 50,000 tons of medicinal plants were consumed annually in this region (Karki, 2006). The use and commercialization of non-timber forest products which include medicinal plants has been found to be an important livelihood strategy in developing countries especially for the rural people (Schackleton *et al.*, 2009), hence enhancing their living standards (Mbuvi and Boon, 2008).

Out of 10,000 flora species in Kenya, about 1200 have been identified as medicinal (Kokwaro, 2009). More than two –thirds of Kenyans turn to medicinal plants for health care and this has been mostly due to lack of access of modern medicine (NCAPD, 2004). The current study comes up with scientific data on safety of three plants which are common in Kenyan ethnomedicine; *Catharanthus roseus* (Madagascar periwinkle), *Rosmarinus officinalis* (Rosemary), *Myrsine africana* (Cape Myrtle/ African boxwood). A prove of their use for medicinal purposes is investigated by assessing the composition of their phytochemicals, oral toxicity and their ability to cause cytotoxicity of brine shrimps.

1.2 Problem statement

Many people believe that natural products or traditional medicine are safer than the conventional modern medicine. Due to their easy access and low cost, these products have increasingly become popular. However, inappropriate use of herbal medicines can cause harmful, adverse reactions. These reactions could be acute and sometimes chronically manifested. Scientific evidence of tests done to evaluate safety of natural products is limited and hence these remedies are used in ignorance due to lack of appropriate information.

1.3 Justification

The safety of herbal medicine has continually been questioned due to reported illness and fatality of the test animals, (Park *et al.*, 2010). Toxicological studies are important in hazard identification stage of safety assessment of drugs. Consumer awareness about safe usage is also very crucial and also good for more training, collaboration and communication among providers of natural products medicine. The possibility of interspecies dosage conversion (WHO, 2000; Curry *et al.*, 2011) make it possible to correlate safety doses of the natural products remedies used on the animal model to the human dosage levels.

Scientific proofs showed that rosemary is well tolerated and of very low toxicity (EFSA, 2008; (Anadón *et al.*, 2008), hence it has been regarded as consumer safe. *Myrsine africana*, commonly used as an anthelmintic, has been regarded as a moderately safe herb (Ahmad *et al.*, 2011a). *Catharanthus roseus*, a plant commonly used for the control of diabetes and other ailments is regarded as very toxic if consumed orally (Kevin *et al.*, 2012). This study was able to validate these claims and also showed how the extracts affected the blood

parameters. Therefore the study was able to offer scientific information that will go hand in hand with ethnomedicinal use.

1.4 Objectives

1.4.1 General objective

To screen for the phytochemical composition, cytotoxicity and toxicological effects of *Rosmarinus officinalis*, *Catharanthus roseus* and *Myrsine africana* crude extracts.

1.4.2 Specific Objective

- 1. To determine the phytochemical composition of the crude extracts of *C. roseus*, *R. officinalis* (leaves) and *M. africana* (seeds).
- 2. To determine the cytotoxicity effects of the aqueous and four organic extracts of *C*. *roseus*, R. *officinalis* (leaves) and *M. africana* (seeds) on brine shrimp larvae.
- 3. To evaluate the hematological and biochemical effects of:
- (a) Acute toxicity of *R*. officinalis *C*. roseus and *M*. africana aqueous extract in male albino Wistar rats.
- (b) Sub-acute toxicity in a 28 day oral repeated dose of *R. officinalis aqueous* extract in albino Wistar rats.

CHAPTER TWO

2.0 LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 Natural Products

Compounds which have biological activities and are derived from natural sources, e.g., plants, animals and microorganisms, are defined as natural products. Natural products have been used by human societies for millennia and have been the major sources of chemical diversity for starting materials for driving pharmaceutical discovery over the past century (Cowan, 1999). Approximately 200,000 natural products of plant origin are known and many more are being identified from higher plants and microorganisms (Lee, 1999, Strobes et al., 2004, Aly et al., 2010; Kinghorn et al., 2011). Over the past decade, biotechnology, pharmaceutical and human health care industries have increased their interest in natural products as sources of new biochemical compounds for drug, chemical and agro-products development. This interest has been stimulated by the importance of traditional knowledge as a lead in new product development (Kinghorn et al., 2008). There are no alternative conventional drugs as up to date for some natural product based drugs like the cardiac glycosides, (WHO, 2011). Natural products of higher plants are probable sources of antimicrobial agents which have added advantages of being safe and biodegradable (Adenisa et al., 2000). Natural products from plants may serve as blue prints in the development of new drugs or as phyotomedicine to be used to treat disease (Abubakar et al., 2008)

Between 1981 and 2006, 1,184 new drugs were registered of which 28% were natural products or their derivatives and 24% of the new drugs had pharmacophores (functional

groups with pharmacological activity) derived from natural products (Newman and Cragg, 2008). Many natural products and synthetically modified natural product derivatives have been successfully developed for clinical use to treat human diseases in almost all therapeutic areas. These compounds may be derived from primary or rather secondary metabolism of these organisms (Bérdy, 2005). Naturally occurring drugs that are part of the war against cancer include vinca alkaloids (vincristine, vinblastine, vindesine, vinorelbine), taxanes (paclitaxel, docetaxel), podophyllotoxin and its derivative (etoposide, teniposide), camptothecin and its derivatives (topothecan, irinothecan), anthracyclines (doxorubicin, daunorubicin, epirubicin, idarubicin) and others (Bhanot *et al.*, 2011). Half of all anti-cancer drugs approved internationally were either natural products or their derivatives and were developed on the basis of knowledge gained from small molecules or macromolecules that exist in nature (Newman *et al.*, 2007)

Modern chemistry has ushered in a new era for the study and use of natural products. Analytical and structural chemistry have provided the tools to purify various compounds and to determine their structures, which, in turn, has given insights into their action on the human body (Trigg, 1989. At least twenty one NP and NP-derived drugs were launched onto the market in the United States, Europe or Japan between 1992 and 1998 (Shu, 1998).

2.2 Natural products from the marine

Material sources from exotic natural environments such as the oceans deeps, or extreme ecosystems like the Polar Regions and taxa of microorganisms for fermentations are lately being exploited for Natural Products sources (Newman and Gragg, 2006). More than 15 000

structurally diverse natural products with different bioactivities have been discovered from marine microbes, algae and invertebrates between 1970 and 2004 (Salomon *et al.*, 2004). Studies have shown that marine invertebrates harbour high levels of microbial diversity that are logical sources for marine biodiversity (Webster, 2001). Many of the marine-derived natural products for treating cancers have gone through clinical and some are in the preclinical trials (Salomon *et al.*, 2004).

2.3 Historical background of evolvement of natural products.

Nearly all civilization has accumulated experience and knowledge of the use of natural products due to their diverse bioactivities, the oldest medical text coming from ancient Mesopotamia, circa 2600 BC, and it describes approximately 1,000 plants and plant-derived substances, such as the oils of Cedrus species (Newman *et al.*, 2003). Natural products in medicines flourished in the Orient. Charaka Samhita devoted to the concepts and practice of Indian Ayurveda, which was written around 900 BC and contains 341 plant-derived medicines. (Dev, 1999). Traditional Chinese medicine (TCM) was compiled around 350 BC, (Jiao and Wang, 2005; Zhong and Wan, 1990.

Traditional medicinal practices forms basis of most of the early medicines which eventually undergo chemical, clinical and pharmacological evaluation (Butler, 2004). It is documented that the Sumerians and Ancient Greeks used poppy extracts medicinally since 1803, (Der Marderosian and Beutler, 2002). Several alkaloids including morphine, a commercially important drug, has been isolated from *Papaver somniferum* L. (opium poppy). Crude morphine was derived from *P. somniferum* in 1870 to yield a pain killer heroin which latter

was readily converted to codeine, a widely used pain killer (Der Marderosian and Beutler, 2002). *Digitalis purpurea* L. (foxglove) had its use in Europe in the 10th century but it was not until the 1700s that the active constituent digitoxin, (cardiotonic glycoside) was found to enhance cardiac conduction, thereby improving cardiac contractibility (Haefner, 2004).

The anti-inflammatory agent, acetylsalicylic acid (aspirin) derived from the natural product, salicin was isolated from the bark of the willow tree *Salix alba L*. (Mishra, 2011). Quinine was isolated from the bark of Cinchona for the treatment of malaria in 1800 (Kinghorn *et al.*, 2011). Penicillin was discovered by Fleming in 1929,) from *Penicillium notatum* which is a fungus, happen to be the most famous of natural product discoveries (Mann, 1994).

2.4 Natural products industry in Kenya

Use of natural products is closely associated with indigenous knowledge (Kaluwa *et al.*, 2014). Kenya has a rich cultural and natural heritage. This is reflected in the enormous indigenous knowledge, embedded in the vast biodiversity found in the country (NCAPD, 2008). Natural medicinal products in Kenya flourish unrecognized and unregulated by the government or other institutions and this is a major challenge in the entire natural product industry (Madiba, 2010). This has resulted in the proliferation of herbal practitioners dispensing various forms of herbal medicines that are touted as able to resolve just about any health problem (NCAPD, 2008).

The Kenyan Pharmacy and Poisons Board (PPB) is involved in the registration of the medicinal products that have been formulated in commercial manner as herbal and complementally products (PPB, 2010). There are several publications with regards to the products obtained from plant extracts. A number of these are showing pharmaceutical activities and potential for the development of new pharmaceutical products (Irungu *et al.*, 2012; Langat *et al.*, 2012; Matheka *et al.*, 2012.) Judging from these published laboratory results analysed in various institutions, it shows that Kenya definitely has a big potential in natural products (Kigen *et al.*, 2013).

Some of the major challenges in this Industry include disappearance of species due to overexploitation (Rukangira, 2001; Stanley, 2004) and also the lack of a documentation of the traditional knowledge threatening its disappearance since most herbalist are old or have died, (Thairu, 1975).

2.5 Some Selected Kenyan natural products in the development pipeline.

Product Name	Use / Benefits	Current status
MUPAL	Duodenal stomach ulcers	Reasonable testing in
(University of Nairobi)	and hyperacidity	laboratory animals for
		safety, activity and some
		pharmaceutical aspects
Mondia tonic	Anti-malaria	Laboratory testing done
(KEFRI, KARI and KWS)		and products proved to
		be effective and safe
PROSGEM	Benign prostate enlargement	Formulated as capsules ;
(University of Nairobi)		pharmacological and
		clinical data available in
		public domain;
KV-1	Treatment of opportunistic viral	Laboratory testing done
(KEMRI)	infections (Herpes Simplex	and product candidate
	Cytomegavirus and Varicella zoster)	proved to be effective
		and safe.
KT–4	Potential nutraceutical drug for	Safety studies show
(KEMRI)	treatment of mild Hypertension.	product is safe:
		Formulation and clinical
		trials are on-going.

 Table 2.1: Natural products in development pipeline in Kenya

Reference: Republic of Kenya Ministry of sports, Culture and the Arts, the Natural Products Industry Policy 2012 (Draft), NPIP, 2012

2.6 Therapeutic areas amenable to natural products

2.6.1 Infectious diseases

2.6.1.1 Fungal pathogens.

Currently marketed anti-fungal drugs target the cell membrane and the cell wall. Caspofungin, one of the most recent clinically available anti-fungal agents, is derived from pneumocandin, a natural product metabolite produced by *Glarea lozoyensis*. Micafungin and anidulafungin are FDA approved anti-fungal agents (Liu *et al.*, 2006).

2.6.1.2 Viral pathogens.

Most marketed anti-viral drugs inhibit viral replication (Westby and Ryst, 2005). A number of anti-viral lectins of algae origin are small proteins that bind carbohydrates found on viral envelopes and are currently in preclinical trials for prevention of transmission of human immunodeficiency virus (HIV), and other envelope viruses such as Ebola or the coronavirus responsible for severe acute respiratory syndrome, SARS, (Ziolkowska and Wlodawer, 2006).

2.6.2 Oncology

Majority of the chemotherapeutic agents currently in use are natural product derived drugs. Drugs that interfere with cell division and proliferation, including alkylating agents, alkaloids, tubulin polymerization agents and topoisomerase inhibitors, are examples of cytotoxic agents used in cancer therapy and include such natural product examples as taxol, vinblastine and anthracyclines (Newman *et al.*, 2003). Genistein, a soy isoflavone, has been found to regulate the genes that are critical for the control of cell proliferation, cell cycle, apoptosis, and cell signal transduction pathways (Sarkar *et al.*, 2006).

2. 6. 3 Other therapeutic areas

2.6.3.1 Cardiovascular and endocrinology

Fields of endocrinology and cardiovascular diseases have not benefited as broadly from natural product discovery programs. However, there are a few notable exceptions. Rapamycin has been found to have cardiovascular protective effects of ischemia disease with hypoxia–re-oxygenation injury is derived from a natural product (Ollivier, 2006). Exenatide, a natural product derived compound from the saliva of a lizard, has recently been approved by the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) for treatment of diabetes (Lee *et al.*, 2008)

2.6.3.2 Inflammation.

Natural product derived drug such as Macrolides have been proven to have antiinflammatory properties distinct from their anti-bacterial activity. Macrolides including azithromycin and the ketolide antibiotic telithromycin have been prescribed for alleviating symptoms of pulmonary pneumonia (Johnston, 2006). One suspected mechanisms for the observed anti-inflammatory activity of macrolides is their ability to suppress the overabundance of neutrophils in lungs (Lotter *et al.*, 2006). The immunosuppressive agent, rapamycin, was reported to inhibit LPS-induced tissue factor expression and help alleviate inflammation in atherosclerosis (Ollivier *et al.*, 2006)

2.7 Ethnomedicine

Ethnomedicine, the study of how people conceptualize disease and healing within the context of their culture (Fabfrega, 2004), has contributed a lot to the advancement of natural products development. Traditional healers play great roles in the primary healthcare systems of the local people since they attend to the poor people who have little access to modern medications (Gathuma *et al.*, 2004). Medicinal plants that have been exploited for pharmaceuticals traces their origin from traditional medicine, artemisinin, a good example, is an antimalarial agent from sweet worm tree. *Arteminisia annua* has been used in Chinese medicine since 200BC is one drug used as part of combination therapy for multiresistant *plasmodium falciparum* (Trigg, 1989; Oketch-Rabah, 1996).

It is now estimated that the natural plants industry is the fastest growing sector in the entire agribusiness industry (Makunga *et al.*, 2008). Many ethnobotanical studies have been accomplished in Kenya with traditional uses of plants from the various communities being documented (Morgan, 1981; Ochoki, 1982; Johns *et al.*, 1990; Stilles and Kassam, 1991; Kokwaro, 1993, Sindiga *et al.*, 1995; Bussmann *et al.*, 2006; Jeruto *et al.*, 2008; Jeruto *et al.*, 2007; Keter and Mutiso., 2011; Lindsay and Hepper, 1978; Nanyingi *et al.*, 2008; Nguta *et al.*, 2012; Mbaabu and Matu, 2013; Kaluwa *et al.*, 2014 and many other ethnobotanical surveys. There is continued search for novel products from traditional medicinal plants (Makunga *et al.*, 2008) particularly for development of effective new drugs that are non-toxic and inexpensive (Taylor *et al.*, 2001).

Medicinal plants are the richest bio resources of folk medicine and food supplement, nutraceutical phymacenticals and chemical entities of synthetic drugs (Ncube *et al.*, 2008). Modern medicine has evolved from folk medicine and traditional system. This has happened after chemical and pharmaceutical screening (Boopathi and Kumar, 2011). Traditional systems of medicine from India Siddha, Ayurveda and Unani are prepared from a single or combination of a number of plants and the required quantities and nature of secondary metabolite in the raw drug determine the efficacy, (Vinoth *et al.*, 2011; Savithramima *et al.*, 2011). The market and public demand of herbal medicine have been increasing due top belief that they are less toxic and this is increasing the risk of extinction or loss of genetic diversity (Misra, 2009).

Kenya has a rich plant heritage with very potent biochemicals, (Kokwaro, 1983, Riley and Brokensha, 1988), like many other developing countries the nation, has a wide spread use of herbal medicine especially in the rural area (WHO, 2008) .Most of ethnobotanical information of herbal medicine and healing procedures remain undocumented. This is because most communities in Kenya pass the information orally and only to very close relatives who may not necessary practice the art (WHO, 2008). Most communities categorize the diseases e.g. as pollutants, misfortune curse and the treatment may differ from case to another, (Kipkorir and Welbourn, 2008).

2.8 Phytochemicals

The term phytochemicals is generally used to components that may have biological significance for example antioxidant (Agarwar and Rao, 2001). There are over 10,000

different phytochemicals having the therapeutic effects against cancer, stroke or metabolic syndromes, (Higdon, 2007). Secondary metabolites are chemically and taxonomically extremely diverse. They have found themselves into different uses, human therapy, veterinary, agriculture and even scientific (Vasu *et al.*, 2009). To promote the ecological survival of plants, secondary metabolites have evolved to interact with molecular targets affecting the cells, tissues and physiological functions (Wink and Schimner, 1999). Some plants secondary metabolites' exert their actions by resembling the endogenous metabolites, Ligands hormones, signal transduction molecules or neural transmitted end hence they become beneficial to human medicine due to similarity in potential targets for example central nervous system, endocrine system and circulatory system (Kaufman *et al.*, 1999).

Unlike most conventional medicines, which are single chemical entities, (which are known a lot about since they were constructed synthetically), natural products often contain many active compounds (sometimes hundreds), thus making it challenging to figure out how the whole product affects the human body. The medicinal value of these plants lies in some chemical substances that produce a definite physiological action on the human or animal body (Edeoga *et al.*, 2005). The most important of these bioactive constituents which are mainly secondary metabolites include alkaloids flavonoids, tannins and phenolic compounds. Recent work has indicated potential roles of secondary products at the cellular level as plant growth regulators, modulators of gene expression, and in signal transduction (Kaufman *et al.*, 1999).

Phyotomedicine can be derived from barks, leaves, flowers, roots, fruits, seeds (Crigg and David, 2001). Knowledge of the chemical constituents of plants is desirable because such information will be of value in the synthesis of complex chemical substances (Parekh and Chanda, 2007). To promote the ecological survival of plants, Structures of secondary products have evolved to interact with molecular targets affecting the cells, tissues, and physiological functions in competing microorganisms, plants, and animals (Wink and Schimmer, 1999). In this respect, some plant secondary products may exert their action by resembling endogenous metabolites, ligands, hormones, signal transduction molecules, or neurotransmitters and thus have beneficial medicinal effects on humans due to similarities in their potential target sites example: central nervous system and endocrine system (Kaufman *et al.*, 1999)

Phytochemicals are divided into primary metabolites such as fats and sugars and these are found in all plants. Secondary metabolites – these are not found in all plants and serve or move specific function (Meskin and Mark, 2002). Some secondary metabolites are toxins and are used to put off the predators. Others like the pollinators have pheromones and are used for attraction (Meskin Mark, 2002). These pigmented metabolites can have therapeutic properties while still capable of causing side effects (Lai and Roy, 2004).

2.8.1 Alkaloids

These are over 12, 000 cycling nitrogen containing compounds found in over 20% plant species (Zulak *et al.*, 2006). The recorded use of alkaloids for medical purposes goes back 5000 years (Goldman, 2001). Most traditional poisons such as atropine and phyoscyamine

from *Atropa belladonna*, some social drugs such as caffeine, nicotine cocaine and opiates are alkaloids (Zenk and Juenger, 2007). Most cholinesterase inhibitors used routinely in treatment of cholinergic dysregulation Alzheimer disease (hyperzine and galatamine) are alkaloids (Mukhejee *at al.*, 2007). Ecologically, alkaloids are toxic against insects and other herbivores (Harborne. 1993).

2.8.2 Terpenes

These are lipid soluble compounds and more than 30,000 diverse groups are known. Their structure includes 1 or 5 carbon isoprene units which are ubiquitously synthesized by all organisms through the merolate and deoxy – d- glucose pathways, (Rohmer, 1999). Terpenoids are generally present in complex mixtures and have different ecological roles in a plant. Monoterpenoids are major components of many essential oils and are economically important as fragrances and perfumes. Common acyclic compounds of six isoprene units and are biosynthetically derived from squalene (Harborne, 1993)

2.8.3 Flavonoids

Flavonoid is a component that is present in normal human diet and is associated with therapeutic uses against stroke, cardiovascular diseases and cancer among. Different naturally occurring flavonoids have been described and subcategorized into flavones, flavans, flavanones, isoflavonoids, chalcones, aurones and anthocyanidines (Amanlo *et al.*, 2005, Veitch *et al.*, 2007). These flavonoids have remarkable biological activities, including inhibitory effects on enzymes, modulatory effect on some cell types, protection against

allergies, antiviral, anti-malarial, antioxidant, anti-inflammatory and anti-carcinogenic properties (Veitch *et al.*, 2007).

2.8.4 Saponins

Saponins are structurally complex amphiphatic glycosides of steroids and triterpenoids and are widely produced by plants (Sparg *et al.*, 2004; Vincken *et al.*, 2007). Saponins are also produced by certain marine organisms, such as starfish and sea cucumbers (Tang *et al.*, 2009; Van Dyck *et al.*, 2010). Chemically, the term saponins define a group of high molecular weight glycosides that consist of a glycan moiety linked to an aglycon (Hostettmann and Marston, 2005). The backbones of saponins are synthesized via the isoprenoids pathway through a largely unidentified number of sequential and/or parallel enzymatic steps (Misawa, 2011). Saponins are often present as complex mixtures and their composition may vary depending on the genetic background, the tissue type, the age and the physiological state of the plant and environmental factors (Szakiel *et al.*, 2011a). These compounds have been found to cause hemolysis, enzyme inhibition, and alteration of gut surface tension in herbivores (Applebaum and Kirk, 1979).

2.8.5. Glycosides

In chemistry, glycosides are defined as compounds containing a carbohydrate and a noncarbohydrate residue in the same molecule; specifically, these compounds include a sugar molecule tied up with another chemical at the anomeric carbon via a glycosidic bond (Lindhorst, 2007). Glycosides may play a central role in different biological functions, presumably by regulating some specific plasticity-related proteins such as G proteins, which

may be crucial in the transduction of intracellular signals (Neves *et al.*, 2002). Studies have suggested that cardiac glycosides target cancer cells selectively and have a significantly lower mortality rate (López-Lázaro, 2007).

2.8.6 Anthraquinones

Anthraquinones are a class of natural compounds that consists of several hundreds of compounds that differ in the nature and positions of substituent groups (Schripsema *et al.*, 1999). This class of compounds contains derivatives that consist of the basic structure of 9, 10 anthraquinones (Baja *et al.*, 1999). Anthraquinones are widely applied in medicine, food and the dye industry. In the pharmaceutical industry, the natural and synthetic derivatives of 9, 10 anthraquinone are beneficial to mammals and humans as they can display antibacterial, antitrypanosomal and antineoplastic activities (Heyman et *al.*, 2009, .Tarus *et al.*, 2002).

2.8.7 Tannins

Tannins encompasses some very diverse oligomers and polymers (Harborne *et al.*,1999).Tannins are a heterogeneous group of high molecular weight polyphenolic compounds with the capacity to form reversible complexes with proteins, alkaloids, nucleic acids and minerals (Mueller-harvey and Mcallan, 1992). On the basis of structural characteristics it is possible to divide the tannins into four major groups: gallotannins, ellagitannins, complex tannins, and condensed tannins (Mangan *et al.*, 1988). Tannin-containing plant extracts are used as astringents, against diarrhoea, as diuretics, against stomach and duodenal tumours (De Bruyne et *al.*, 1999).

2.8.8 Reducing sugars

A sugar is classified as a reducing sugar only if it has an open-chain form with an aldehyde group or a free hemiacetal group (Campbell and Farrel, 2012). Knowledge of carbohydrate status in plants is very important in understanding many biological (Huber *et al.*, 1985). The soluble sugar pool in most plants is formed mainly by sucrose, glucose, fructose and minor quantities of other substances such as aminosugars, sugar alcohols, sugar phosphates and uronic acids (Campbell and Farrel, 2012)

2.9 Toxicity of natural products

Excessive consumption of some of secondary metabolites brings toxic effects, for example; excessive glycosides, alkaloids and terpenoids results in lesions in nervous system (Conn, 1979; Mabry and Grill, 1979). Some types of tannins (condensed) are also responsible for mucosal toxicity and the consequence is a reduced nutrient absorption (Reed, 1995). Saponins in excess have been reported to impair growth and reduced food intakes (Milgates and Roberts, 1995).

Earliest report of the toxicity of herbs originated from Galen, a Greek pharmacist and physician. He showed that herbs do not contain only therapeutic constituents, but that they may also contain harmful substances (Cheng *et al.*, 2004). Toxicity in medicinal natural products may originate from: (1) accidents due to a mistake in botanical identification, (2) accidental ingestion of cardiotonic plants, (3) inappropriate combinations, including the use of potentially toxic plants, (4) plants that interfere with conventional pharmacological therapy (5) Contamination with heavy metals (Thomson *et al.*, 2000).

The premise that traditional use of a plant for perhaps many hundreds of years establishes its safety does not necessarily hold true (De Smet, 1995). The more subtle and chronic forms of toxicity, such as carcinogenicity, mutagenicity, and hepatotoxicity, may well have been overlooked by previous generations and it is these types of toxicity that are of most concern when assessing the safety of herbal remedies (Shaw *et al.*, 1995). The primary aim of toxicological assessment of any NP is to identify adverse effects and to determine limits of exposure level at which such effects occur (Sims *et al.*, 2010).

2.10 Examples of natural products that have recorded potential toxicity

Common name and scientific name	Potential toxicity
Ginseng(Panax ginseng)	Central nervous system stimulation, hypertension,
	skin eruptions (Chan and Fu, 2007)
St. John's wort	Highly potent cytochrome P450 enzyme inducer which
(Hypericum perforatum)	affects drug metabolism, hepatotoxicity and
	nephrotoxicity in pregnancy and lactation (Gregoretti
	<i>et al.</i> , 2004)
Kava kava	Anxiolytic hepatotoxic, cytochrome P450 enzyme
(Piper methysticum)	inhibitor (Gow et al.,2003)
Ginkgo(Ginkgo biloba)	Gastric irritability, spontaneous bleeding (Sierpina et
	al.,2003)
Aloe (Aloe vera)	Cytogenetic toxicity (Verma et al.,2012)

Table 2.2: Natural products with potential toxicity:

2.11 Acute toxicity testing

There several types of toxicity tests performed by pharmaceutical manufactures during new drug assessment and evaluation for toxic characteristics. These include; acute, sub-acute and chronic toxicity. Acute toxicity is a term used to describe the adverse effects that are caused by a single exposure to a toxic substance or brief multiple exposures over a very short span of time –usually less than 24 hours. The described acute toxicity should occur within 14 days of administration of the substance (OECD, 2000). Acute toxicity studies are usually done to establish the lethal dose (LD) of a substance (Robinson *et al.*, 2007). Exposure routes may be by oral, inhalation/mucosal, dermal or injection. Acute toxicity is involved in estimation of LD $_{50}$, the dose which has proved to be lethal to 50% of the tested group (OECD, 423).

2.11.1 Significance of acute toxicity tests

Regulatory requirements for health products in many countries are becoming stricter and demanding with the increased health consciousness (WHO, 2008). Pharmacotoxicological data which should include pharmacological activity, acute, sub-acute, chronic and sub-chronic tests is part of requirement when registering a herbal product (RKRHCP, 2010).

Determination of safety of natural products/herbal remedies is necessary as many people use them for self-medication and little data is available about the pharmacology and toxicology for most of the common herbal remedies (Fragoso *et al.*, 2008). Acute toxicity is an initial screening step in the toxic assessment and evaluation characteristics of all biological compounds (Akhila *et al.*, 2007) and studies in animals are usually necessary for any pharmaceutical intended for human use. Acute toxicity studies may also aid in the selection of starting doses for Phase 1 human studies, and provide information relevant to acute overdosing in humans. The goals of acute lethal toxicity testing) include the following: (1) defining the degree of hazard that may result from exposure to a test substance; determining susceptible populations and species;(2) identifying target organs or systems; providing information that can be used in developing risk evaluations; (3) provide information to clinicians that will enable them to predict, diagnose, and/or provide treatment for acute exposures (Svendsen, 1994).

Long-term studies usually start with a dose-finding exercise under acute conditions. Furthermore, the information on acute systemic toxicity generated by the test is used in hazard identification and risk management in the context of production, handling, and use of chemicals (Leahy, 1997).

2.12 Sub-acute toxicity

These tests express the overall side effect observed after repeated administration of the test substance (2-6 weeks) and enable the determination of the principal behavioral changes as well as anatomical, physiological and biochemical manifestations of tissue damage provoked by the substance (WHO, 1993). Results of many sub-acute toxicity tests of various plant extracts showed that the major organs usually affected are the liver and kidneys. Hepatotoxic and nephrotoxic effects are mostly to be expected, as the liver acts as the main detoxifying organ for chemical substances, while the kidney is a principal route of excretion for many chemical substances in their active and/or inactive forms (Abdulrahman *et al.*, 2007)
2.13 Cell-based cytotoxicity tests and significance of bioassays

Bioassay testing of plant extracts bioactivity in most cases correlates reasonably well with cytotoxic and anti-tumor properties (McLaughlin *et al.*, 1993). One basic premise is that toxicology is simply pharmacology at a higher dose, thus if we find toxic compounds, a lower dose might elicit a useful, pharmacological, perturbation on a physiologic system, (McLauglin, 1991).

Cell-based cytotoxicity tests are important in-vitro procedures performed for natural products. Cytotoxicity assays (CTAs) are performed to predict potential toxicity, using cultured cells which may be normal or transformed cells. (CTAs) involve short term exposure of cultured cells to test substances, to detect how basal or specialized cell functions may be affected by the substance, prior to performing safety studies in whole organisms. It can also provide insight towards the carcinogenic and genotoxic dispositions of natural products. The ability of a biological material to inhibit cellular growth and viability can also be ascertained as an indication of its toxicity. Assessment parameters for cytotoxic effects include inhibition of cell proliferation, cell viability markers (metabolic and membrane), morphologic and intracellular differentiation (O'Brien, 2006)

2.14 Effects of toxicity to an organism

Alteration in the biochemical indices will lead to impairment of normal functioning of the organs (Afolayan *et al.*, 2009). Significant changes in the body weight increment alterations are indices of adverse effects of drugs and chemicals and it will be significant if the body weight loss occurred exceeds 10% from the initial body weight (Ekwall *et al.*, 1994). Organ

weight changes are an important indicator of physiological and pathological damage. The heart, liver, kidney, spleen and lungs are the primary organs affected by metabolic reaction caused by toxicants. Very severe liver and kidney injury has been described after the ingestion of a large variety of different herbal preparations (Stickel *et al.*, 2003). Liver assays give information about the state of the liver, describing its functionality (albumin), cellular integrity (transaminases) and its link with the biliary tract (alkaline phosphatase) (Agbaje *et al.*, 2009). Assessment of haematological parameters is usually used to determine the extent of harmful effect of plant extracts on the blood constituents of an animal model (Olson *et al.*, 2000). Altered haematological parameters can explain altered blood relating functions of chemical compounds/plant extract (Ashafa *et al.*, 2009). Hematological parameters provide information regarding the status of bone marrow activity and hemolysis (Sebastian, 2012).

2.15 Catharanthus roseus

2.15.1 Description of the plant

Catharanthus roseus is commonly known as "rosy periwinkle" and belongs to the family of Apocynaceae, a native of Madagascar. The plant is found commonly in tropical rainforests in other countries and is a tender, perennial plant which grows as a herb or a subshrub sprawling along the ground or standing erect (30 cm to 1 m in height) (Jaleel and Panneerselvam, 2007) Rosy periwinkle has attractive white or pink flowers comprising five petals. The leathery, dark green leaves are arranged in opposite pairs. The fruit of *C. roseus* is made up of two narrow, cylindrical follicles which house numerous grooved seeds. Like many other plants in the Apocynaceae family, the sap is a milky (latex) (Frode and Medeiros, 2008).



Figure 2.1: A photograph of aerial part of *Catharanthus roseus*

2.15.2 Uses of C. roseus

Catharanthus roseus is a renowned medicinal plant, and is a rich source of alkaloids, which are distributed in all parts of the plant (Sing *et al.*, 1997). It has traditionally been used to treat diverse elements such as eye inflammations, rheumatism and diabetes. Among the Luo community in Kenya, rosy periwinkle is used as an antimalarial and antidiabetic remedy (Kokwaro, 1976). Two of the dimeric alkaloids vinblastine and vincristine mainly present in the aerial parts, have found extensive application in the treatment of human neoplasm. Among the monomeric alkaloids ajmalicine (raubacine), found in the roots has been confirmed to have a broad application in the treatment of circulatory diseases, especially in the relief of obstruction of normal cerebral blood flow (Aslam *et al.*, 2010). *C. roseus* exhibits high in-vitro antiplasmodial activity, which may be due to the presence of compounds such as alkaloids, terpenoids, flavonoids and sesquiterpenes that were previously isolated from the plant (Jaleel and Panneerselvam, 2007; Collu *et al.*, 2001; Vimala, 2000; Hirose and Ashihara., 1994). It also possesses known antibacterial, antifungal, antibiotic, antioxidant, wound healing and antiviral activities (Prajakta *et al.*, 2010)

2.16 Myrsine africana

2.16.1 Plant description and distribution

M. africana is a *Myrsinaceae* and is an evergreen shrub growing to 2m at a slow rate and is native to Africa and Asia. The flowers are dioecious (individual flowers are either male or female, but only one sex is found on any one plant). *M. africana* (also called Cape Myrtle, African boxwood) typically has dense, dark-green to red foliage and produces tiny bright purple berries which are edible. *M. africana* grows well in dry areas and has a wide

distribution from the Himalayas, China, and southern Africa. It is common in the summer and winter rainfall areas (McClintock, 1994; Pooley, 2003).



Figure 2.2: A photograph showing an aerial part of *Myrsine africana*

2.16.2 Uses of M. africana

The seeds and roots of *M. africana* are widely used for livestock and human as an anthelmintic, especially in the treatment of tapeworms (Gathuma *et al.*, 2004; Mbaabu and Matu, 2013). The crude extract of *M. africana* was found not efficacious against

Haemonchus contortus in sheep (Githiori *et al.*, 2002). The plant is also used for the treatment of diarrhea, rheumatism, toothache pulmonary tuberculosis and relieving hemorrhage (Zhong, 1985). *M. africana* is traditionally used as a fragrance in tea, carminative, spice, appetizer and flavoring agent, (Kokwaro, 1993).

2.17 Rosmarinus officinalis (rosemary)

2.17.1 Plant description and distribution

R. officinalis commonly known as rosemary belongs to the *Lamiaeceae* family and is an aromatic, evergreen, shrubby herb. It grows to a height of up to 2m. *Rosmarinus officinalis* is a native Mediterranean plant which derives its name from its refreshing effects. Rosemary is a perennial plant that has great climatic adaptability. Its leaves are needle like evergreen and the flowers are white, pink, purple or blue according to the different cultivars. The plant is widely used and grown all over the world as a decorative plant gardens or even as a fence. (Lopez-Munoz *et al.*, 2006)



Figure 2.3: A photograph of aerial part of Rosmarinus Officinalis

2.17.2 Uses of R. officinalis

R. officinalis is widely used as a spice when cooking, especially in Mediterranean dishes and it has naturally occurring antioxidants (Inatani *et al.*, 1983). The herb was used to strengthen memory and as a symbol of remembrance. Greek students twined rosemary in their hair when studying for exams in hope of aiding their memories according to Parkison (1567-1650). Other traditional medicinal use of rosemary includes: relieve muscle pain and spasm,

stimulate hair growth, stimulate circulatory and nervous system, increase urine flow, treat indigestion, relieve of respiratory disorders, as an analgesic, antirheumatic and antiepileptic, (Blumenthal *et al.*, 2000).

Four main categories of compounds found in Rosemary include flavonoids, phenols, volatile oil, and terpenoids (Barnes *et al.*, 2007). This plant's antioxidant properties are due to the presence of carnosic, carnosol, rosmanol, epirosmenol, and rosmarinic acids (Haraguchi *et al.*, 1995). Studies have shown that rosemary plant, due to its dilatory properties, can increase blood flow and its external use have vasodilatory effects on the skin (Frishman *et al.*, 2004). In addition, this plant has antispasmodic properties due to its alpha-and beta- pinenes (Taddei *et al.*, 1988; Hosseinzadeh and Nourbakhsh, 1989. Rosemary has been found to have food preservative qualities (Oiye *et al.*, 2013). *Rosmarinus officinalis* essential oils or some, of their components are commonly used in make-ups, sanitary products and food preservatives (Bakirel *et al.*, 2008).

CHAPTER THREE

3.0 MATERIALS AND METHODS3.1 Collection and identification of plant materials

Rosemarinus officinalis was kindly provided by "Tarcit Energies", a farm in Meru area of Kenya which produces and sells rosemary .The fresh leaves of the *Catharanthus roseus* were collected from University of Nairobi flower gardens while *Myrsine africana seeds* were from the Samburu area of Kenya. Identification and authentication of the plants was done at the herbarium, School of Biological Sciences, University of Nairobi.

3.2 Extraction of plants materials: aqueous extracts

The plant materials (leaves of *C. roseus* and *R. officinalis* and *M. africana* seeds) were cleaned with tap water and rinsed with distilled water, air-dried at room temperature (22-26°C) to a constant weight after which they were ground to a uniform powder using an electric mill. For each plant powder, 100g was soaked each in 1L distilled water for 72 hours. The mixtures were then filtered through cotton wool and then with filter paper (125mm). These filtrates were frozen at -20° C for 24 hours followed by freeze drying. The powdered extracts were weighed into sealable air tight polythene bags and stored sealed in the refrigerator at 4° C. Percentage yield of extracts was assessed on w/w basis.

3.3 Acute toxicity test for R. officinalis, M. africana and C. roseus aqueous extracts

3.3.1 Laboratory animals

A total of 35 male Wistar albino rats (195 - 225 g) were required for this study. They were obtained from the animal house of the department of Biochemistry, University of Nairobi. The animals were housed in the research room in the Biochemistry department and the temperature of this room was maintained by a vanned heater at $27-30^{\circ}$ C. This research room was well ventilated and maintained on light for12 hours and 12 hour darkness. The rats were provided with the standard rat pellets and clean water. They were allowed to acclimatize for 10 days prior to starting of the experiment. The initial weights of the rats were taken and they were also marked with a permanent marker on the tail.

The animal studies were in compliance to the ethical procedure for the care and use of laboratory animals approved by the "Animal care and use committee (ACUC)" of the Faculty of Veterinary Medicine University of Nairobi.

3.3.2 Baseline parameters assessment

After the 10 day acclimatization period, the rats were randomly assigned into 7 groups, 5 rats per cage. Each animal was bled aseptically from the tail vein when the animal was under restrain and 1.8ml blood was collected. About 1.3 ml of the blood was collected into EDTA tubes, mixed thoroughly for hematological measurements and the rest about 0.5ml was put into plain tubes for biochemical parameters measurements. The blood was stored at 4^oC awaiting further treatment. Hemoglobin concentration (Hb), packed cell volume (PCV), red blood cells (RBCs), white blood cells (WBCs), mean corpuscular hemoglobin concentration

(MHC), mean corpuscular volume (MCV), mean corpuscular hemoglobin (MCH) and thrombocytes were analysed in an automatic hematological analyzer within six hours. The blood in the plain tubes was immediately centrifuged at 3000 revolutions per minute (r p m) for 10 minutes to extract serum which was stored at -20° C for biochemical assays. Aspartate aminotransferase (AST), alanine aminotransferase (ALAT), total proteins, creatinine and serum urea were assayed for each rat using "Human" commercial kits by a UV mini spectrophotometer according to the manufacturer's protocol.

3.3.3 Oral acute toxicity testing

This was done by modifying the, OECD, 423 guidelines. The acute toxic class method set out in this guideline is a stepwise procedure with the use of 3 animals of a single sex per step. However for the sake of this study 5 animals were used per doses. The administered doses were pre-determined using 1 animal per category and found not to cause mortality or morbidity.

3.3.4 Experimental design for oral acute toxicity testing

The acute testing procedure was done 15 days after the initial bleeding. The animals were kept overnight fasting prior to extract administration of different concentrations of the aqueous plants which was constituted in 2ml distilled water. A gavage was used for the oral administration of the extracts. All rats in groups 2 and, 3 were given 1000 and 5000mg/kg body weight, respectively of *Catharanthus roseus* aqueous extract. Groups 4 and 5 were administered with 1000 and 5000mg/kg body weight of the *Myrsine africana* aqueous extract respectively. Group 6 and 7 were also administered with 1000 and 5000mg/kg body weight

of *Rosmarinus officinalis* aqueous extract respectively. Group 1 served as the control and the rats were administered with 2 ml distilled water. Food was withheld for further 3 hours post administration of the extracts. Animals were observed individually at least once during the first 30 minutes after dosing, periodically during first 24 hours after which the number of dead rats was recorded. The live animals were observed up to the 14thday for any abnormal behavior.

The animals were weighed at 48 hours, 7th and 14th days using an electronic balance. Daily observations on the changes in fur, eyes and mucus membrane (nasal), respiratory rate, circulatory signs, salivation, lacrimation, defecation ptosis, drowsiness, tremor and convulsion changes were noted.

3.3.5. Animal bleeding, hematological and biochemical assays

Blood was collected again at 48 hours and 14 days post extract administration from each of the rats. Just as the first procedure, 1.8ml was collected via the tail lateral vein using a 2 ml hypodermic syringe and needle when the animal was restrained. A blood aliquot (1.3 ml) was put into the EDTA tubes and thoroughly mixed for hematological analysis. The remaining 0.5 ml of the blood was put in the plain tubes for biochemical analysis. The blood was treated and analysed as had been done initially during baseline assessment. At the end of study, day 14, the animals were anesthetized heavily with diethyl ether in the anesthesia chamber to kill them after which they were incinerated.

3.4 Sub-acute toxicity studies of *R. officinalis*

3.4.1 Experimental design in sub-acute toxicity studies of *R. officinalis*

The study was done with 20 male albino Wistar rats (175-180g). They were grouped by complete randomized design into 4 groups with 5 rats per group and each rat was housed in its own cage. The rats were fasted for 6 hours before extract administration. Group 1, the control, received 2 ml of distilled water orally using a gavage, once daily for 28 days. The second, third and fourth groups were orally given with rosemary aqueous extract (500, 1500 and 3000 mg per kg body weight) respectively once daily for 28 days. The body weight of the animals were measured weekly and recorded using an electronic balance. The animals were observed daily for any abnormal changes.

3.4.2 Blood collection and subsequent blood parameter measurements

As in acute testing, 1.8 ml blood was collected when the animals were under restrain via lateral tail vein 2 weeks prior drug administration, at days 14 and 28 using 2 ml hypodermic syringes. An aliquot of 1.3 ml was put into EDTA tube for hematological assay and 0.5 ml in plain tubes for biochemical assay. Serum for biochemical assays was collected after centrifugation at 3000 rvm for 10 minutes and stored at -20° C for ALT, AST, creatinine urea and total proteins measurements. The following hematological parameters were measured using an automatic hematology analyzer: PCV, Hb, RBC, WBC, MCV MCH, MCHC and thrombocytes.

3.4.3 Procedure for differential white blood cells count.

Differential white blood cells were determined by making a one drop blood smear on a microscopic slide which was air dried and fixed with alcohol for 0.5 to 1 minute in order to prevent hemolysis. The slide was stained with Giemsa stain at pH 7.2 for 30 minutes. Differential leucocyte counts were done in an area where the morphology of the cells was clearly visible. Counting was done under the oil immersion objective by moving the slide in area including the central and peripheral of the smear. A total of 100 cells were counted in which every white cell seen was recorded in a table under the following heading: neutrophil, basophil, eosinophil, monocyte and lymphocyte. The percentage count of each type was calculated.

3.4.4 Organs harvesting

The rats were anaesthetized in a chamber using diethyl ether. Each animal was mounted on a dissecting board for organs collection. The liver, kidney, spleen, lungs and the heart in each animal were carefully removed. These organs were washed in physiological saline, blotted out, observed macroscopically and weight recorded. Percentage organ weight ratios were calculated. The organs were stored in 10% buffered formalin solution.

Relative organ weight= $100 \times absolute organ weight$

Weight of animal at sacrificing

3.4.5 Statistical analysis

The hematological, biochemical and weight measurements results were expressed as mean \pm standard deviation of the mean. One-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) was employed for

between and within group comparison. 95 % level of significance, $p \ge 0.05$, was used for the statistical analysis in acute and sub-acute toxicity studies.

3.5 Brine shrimp (*Artemia salina*) cytotoxicity test of the 3 plant extracts.

The procedure of (Meyer *et al.*, 1982) was adopted to determine the lethality of plant extracts to brine shrimp.

3.5.1 Extract preparations for brine shrimp assay

Four organic and one aqueous extracts were used for this study. The organic solvents used were; hexane, DCM (dichloromethane), dichloromethane: methanol (1:1), methanol: water (95:5). 50g of each of the plants powder was soaked each in 500ml of the solvent for 48 hours, filtered using cotton wool and No.1 Watman filter paper. The filtrates were evaporated in a rotor evaporator at 40°C to complete dryness. The dry powder was weighed for yield calculations. The aqueous extract was freeze dried. These extracts were stored in plastic air tight containers at 4^{0} C.

3.5.2 Culturing and harvesting of A. salina

A. salina (2g) cysts were incubated for hatching in a shallow rectangular dish with a plastic divider with several 2 mm holes making two unequal compartments. The container was filled with 3.3% solution of artificial sea water and 50 mg yeast sprinkled into the larger compartment which was darkened. The smaller compartment was illuminated by a tungsten filament light and gently sparged with air. After 24 hours, hatched *A. salina* cysts were

transferred to fresh artificial seawater and incubated for a further 24 hours under artificial light. The phototropic nauplii were collected by pipette from the lighted side.

3.5.3 Preparation of test extracts and the controls

Stock solutions of each of the organic and aqueous extracts (10 000 μ g/ml) were made in dimethyl sulphoxide (DMSO) and deionized water respectively. The test extracts 5 μ l, 50 μ l, and 500 μ l for 10 μ g/ml, 100 μ g/ml, and 1000 μ g/ml respectively, were transferred into 15 ml tubes and made to 4.5 ml with the brine solution. Negative controls with 5 μ l, 50 μ l, and 500 μ l DMSO for the organic extracts and a similar set up of de-ionized water were set alongside tests. A positive control of stock solution of etoposide (10,000 μ g/ml) was prepared in deionized water and aliquots of 5 μ l, 50 μ l, and 500 μ l for 10 μ g/ml, 100 μ g/ml, and 1000 μ g/ml, respectively were transferred into 15 ml tubes and made up to 4.5 with brine solution. The tests and the controls were done in triplicates.

3.5.4 Brine shrimps bioassay.

A. salina nauplii (10) were counted macroscopically in the stem of a Pasteur pipette against a lighted background and transferred into each sample vial and the solutions were made to 5ml with brine solution. A drop of dry yeast suspension was added as food to each vial. All the vials were maintained under illumination. The surviving nauplii were counted with the aid of a 3x magnifying glass after 24 hours. Percentage mortality at the three dose levels and control were determined. The surviving nauplii were killed by the addition of 100 μ l of 5% (v/v) phenol to each vial.

3.6 Statistical analysis to determine brine shrimps LC₅₀ of the extracts

A regression line equation was derived for each extract from a trend line of probit against Log 10 concentrations. This was respectively used to calculate the LC₅₀ value (Finney, 1971).

3.7 Phytochemical screening

Phytochemical screening was performed as described by (Harborne, 1998; Evans, 2002).

3.7.1 Test for anthraquinones

A sample (0.5g) of the aqueous extract was boiled with 10 ml of sulphuric acid, H_2SO_4 , and filtered while hot. The filtrate was shaken with 5 ml of chloroform and the chloroform layer pipetted into another test tube after which 1 ml of dilute ammonia was added. The resulting solution was observed for colour changes. A yellow colour indicated presence of anthraquinones (Evans, 2002).

3.7.2 Test for terpenoids (Salkowski test)

To a 0.5g sample of the extract was added 2 ml of chloroform. Concentrated H_2SO_4 (3 ml) was carefully added to form a layer. A reddish brown colouration of the interface indicated the presence of terpenoids (Harborne, 1998)

3.7.3 Test for flavonoids

Dilute ammonia (5 ml) was added to a portion of an aqueous filtrate of the extract. Concentrated sulphuric acid (1 ml) was also added. A yellow colouration that disappeared on standing indicated the presence of flavonoids. A second method entailed adding a few drops of 1% Aluminum a portion of the filtrate. A yellow colouration indicated the presence of flavonoids. A third a portion of the extract was heated with 10 ml of ethyl acetate over a steam bath for 3 minutes. The mixture was filtered and 4 ml of the filtrate was shaken with 1 ml of dilute ammonia solution and observed for a yellow colouration (Harborne, 1998).

3.7.4 Test for reducing sugars (Fehling's test)

Equal volume of Fehling A and Fehling B reagents were mixed together. A 2 ml portion of the mixture was added 1ml of crude extract solution of each plant and gently boiled. A brick red precipitate appeared at the bottom of the test tube that indicated the presence of reducing sugars (Harborne, 1998).

3.7.5 Test for saponins

To a 0.5 g of extract for each plant was added 5 ml of distilled water in a test tube. The solution was shaken and observed for a stable persistent froth. The frothing was mixed with 3 drops of olive oil and shaken vigorously after which it was observed for the formation of an emulsion. (Harborne, 1998).

3.7.6 Test for tannins

About 0.5 g of the extract was boiled in 10 ml of water in a test tube and then filtered.

A few drops of 0.1% ferric chloride was added and observed for brownish green or a blueblack colouration which was positive for tannins (Evans, 2002)

3.7.7 Test for alkaloids

About 0.5 g of extract was diluted to 10 ml with acid alcohol, boiled and filtered. To 5 ml of the filtrate (2 ml) of dilute ammonia was added. Chloroform (5ml) was then added and shaken to extract the alkaloidal base. The chloroform layer was extracted with 10 ml of acetic acid. This was divided into two portions. Mayer's reagent was added to one portion and Draggendorff's reagent to the other. The formation of a cream (with Mayer's reagent) or reddish brown precipitate (with Draggendorff's reagent) was regarded as positive for the presence of alkaloids (Evans, 2002).

3.7.8 Test for cardiac glycosides (Keller-Killiani test)

A sample of the extract (0.5g) was mixed with 5 ml distilled water and 2 ml of glacial acetic acid containing one drop of ferric chloride solution was added. This was underplayed with 1 ml of concentrated sulphuric acid. A brown ring at the interface indicated the presence of a deoxysugar characteristic of cardenolides. A violet ring in some cases appeared below the brown ring, while in the acetic acid layer a greenish ring formed just above the brown ring and gradually spread throughout these layers. This indicated presence of cardiac glycosides (Harborne, 1998).

CHAPTER FOUR

4.0 RESULTS

Table 4.1: Aqueous extract yields

Weight	of powder	Amount after freeze	% yield
(g)		drying	
300		27.6	9.2
300		17.4	5.8
1000		62	6.2
	Weight (g) 300 300 1000	Weight of powder (g) 300 300 1000	Weightof powderAmount after freeze(g)drying30027.630017.4100062

4.1 Cage side observations:

No mortality or clinical signs observed in rats administered with the aqueous extracts of *C*. *roseus, M. africana or R. officinalis* at 10000 and 5000 mg/kg bwt up to the 14^{th} day. General behavior of the rats was found to be normal throughout the study period.

4.2 Hematological and biochemical results in acute toxicity

Reference for treatment groups in acute toxicity testing

Groups

2 and 3 -C. roseus 1000 and 5000 mg/kg bwt respectively

4 and 5- M. africana 1000 and 5000 mg/kg bwt respectively

6 and 7- R. officinalis 1000 and 5000 mg/kg bwt respectively

4.2.1 Hematological results in acute toxicity

At 48 hours testing the, mean WBC in group 2, rats treated with *C. roseus* (1000 mg/kg bwt), was significantly elevated than the control group, P < 0.5. This group had the highest mean WBC of 29.0 \pm 12.2 m/mm³, figure 4.1. Group 5, fed with *R. officinaisl*, 5000 mg/kg bwt, had the lowest mean WBC of 7.1 m/mm³ but at day 14, this level had gone to baseline. There was no significant difference in WBC in the groups treated with *M. africana*, P > 0.05, (figure 4.1).



Figure 1.1: Effects of white blood cells counts by the 3 plants extracts

The mean red blood cells (RBC) in group 5 (*M. africana*-5000mg) at 48 hours was significantly higher than the control and all the other treatment groups (p < 0.05) with a mean of 7.6 m/mm³ while the control had 5.8 m/mm³, figure 4.2. This value had normalised at day 14 testing.



Figure 4.2: Effects of red blood cells counts by the 3 plants extracts

At 48 hours, group 5, treated with *M. africana* 5000 mg/kg bwt, had a significant increased packed cells volume, PCV, P < 0.05 (figure 4.3), with the highest mean of 44.08 % when the untreated group had a mean of 34.4 %. The rest of the groups both at 48 hours and day 14 had no significant difference with the control.



Figure 4.3: Effects of packed cells volume by the 3 plants extracts:

At 48 hours, group 3 (5000 mg/kg bwt *C. roseus)* had significantly low mean corpuscular volume (MCV) than all the other treatment groups with 22.9 \pm 18.3 g/l while the control group had 63.8 \pm 0.6 g/l. Other groups had no significant difference with the control at day 14, figure 4.4.



Figure 4.4: Effect of the mean corpuscular volume by plants extracts in acute toxicity

The mean corpuscular hemoglobin concentration (MCHC) values were significantly increased in group 4, treated with *M. africana* 1000 mg/kg bwt, with a mean of 43.5% at 48 hours. This value reduced at day 14 to 39.4%. The rest of the groups had no significant difference with the control at 48 hours or at day 14 (figure 4.5).



Figure 4.5: Effects of the mean corpuscular hemoglobin concentration by the plants extracts in acute toxicity

At 48 hours, the group treated with *C. roseus*, 1000 mg/kg bwt (group 2), had a significantly decreased thrombocyte level compared with the other treatment groups, with a mean of 188 m/mm³ and a p value of 0.03. This value had normalized at day 14. A significant increase of thrombocytes, P < 0.05, was observed in groups 5 and 6 (*M. africana* 5000 and. R. *officinalis* 1000 mg /kg bwt respectively), with mean values of 589 and 529 respectively (figure 4.6).



Figure 4.6: Effects of thrombocytes count by the 3 plants extracts in acute toxicity

Hemoglobin (HB) and mean cell hemoglobin (MCH) were not significantly affected by the extracts in all groups both at 48 hours and 14 ^{the} day testing, P > 0.05, tables 4.2 and 4.3.

Group	Extract	HB at 48 H (g/l)	p value	HB at day 14 (g/)l	p value
1	control	14.0 ± 0.8		13.9 ± 1.0	
2	C. roseus 1000mg	14.354± 0.4	1.0	14.76 ± 0.8	0.9
3	C. roseus 5000mg	$14.54~\pm~0.5$	1.0	14.86 ± 0.5	1.0
4	M. africana 1000mg	13.86 ± 2.5	1.0	15.24 ± 0.9	1.0
5	M. africana 5000mg	$14.48~\pm~0.3$	1.0	14.48 ± 1.6	1.0
6	R. officinalis 1000mg	$12.74 ~\pm~ 2.0$	1.0	15.26 ± 0.4	0.9
7	R. officinalis 5000g	$14.42~\pm~0.5$	1.0	15.96 ± 0.9	0.9

Table 4.2: showing the non-significant effects of hemoglobin by the plants extracts.

 Table 4.3: showing the non-significant effects of MCH by the plants extracts

Group		MCH at 4	48 H (p/g)	p value	MHC at	day 14 (p/g)	p value
1	control	23.92 ±	1.2		24.02±	1.4	
2	C.roseus 1000mg	27.34 ±	0.6	0.9	25.7 ±	1.4	0.8
3	C. roseus 5000mg	22.12 ±	0.2	0.9	24.2 ±	0.9	0.8
4	M.africana 1000mg	24. 3 ±	1.2	0.9	23.24 ±	0.6	0.8
5	M.africana 5000mg	$22.48~\pm$	3.0	0.9	22.5 ±	0.4	0.8
6	R.officinalis 1000mg	23.78 ±	1.5	0.9	23.02 ±	0.7	0.8
7	R.officinalis 5000mg	$24.16\pm$	0.4	0.9	$24.05 \pm$	0.6	0.8

4.2.2 Biochemical results in acute toxicity of albino Wistar Rats.

At 48 hours, the groups treated with *C. roseus* and *R. officinalis* (5000 mg/kg bwt) (groups 3 and 7) showed significantly low ALAT, p < 0.05, compared with the control group, (figure 4.7).

At day 14, these levels had gone up and were as baseline levels. Group 3 (*C. roseus* 5000 mg/kg) showed significantly high ALAT, p = 0.01 at day14. Groups treated with *M. africana* (groups 4 and 5) had no ALAT significant difference, p > 0.05, (figure 4.7).



Figure 4.7: Effects of alanine aminotransferase by the 3 plants extracts in acute toxicity

Figure 4.8 shows that the three plants extracts did not have any significant difference of AST at 48 hours, p < 0.05, but at day 14 there was significant increase in the levels of AST in groups 3, 4 and 5 (*C. roseus* -1000 mg, *M. africana* 1000 and 5000 mg/kg bwt respectively). *R. officinalis* did not affect the rat AST significantly



Figure 4.8: effects of aspartate aminotransferase by the 3 plants extracts in acute toxicity

At 48 hours, there was significant increase in the mean creatinine, P < 0.05 in groups 3, treated with *C. roseus* and group 5, *M. africana* 5000 mg /kg bwt, figure 4.9. These groups had means of 16.6 and 15.6 mg/ dl respectively. The creatinine levels eventually became low at day 14 and showed no significant difference with the control p > 0.05, figure 4.9.



Figure 4.9: Effects of serum creatinine by the 3 plants extracts in acute toxicity

Figure 4.10 shows that serum urea in the group 3 (treated with *C. roseus* 5000mg/kg bwt) was the only significantly elevated at 48 hours among the treated groups with a p value of 0.04 and a mean of 56.1 mg/dl while control had a mean of 42.9 mg/dl. At day 14 the mean urea for this group had gone to normal values. Groups 2, treated with C. *roseus* 1000 mg/kg bwt had the highest mean urea at day 14 with, 70.6mg/dl which was significantly different from the control,

P = 0. Groups 4 and 5 (*M. africana* 1000 and 5000 mg/kg bwt) had 21.8 and 27.8 mg/dl respectively, $p \le 0.05$, being significantly decreased than the control, figure 4.10.





There was no significant difference in the mean total proteins in all the treatment groups, p > 0.05 (table 4.4)

Group	Extract	Total 48 H (s	proteins z/dl)	P value	Total proteins day 14 (g/dl)		p value
1	control	7.7 ±	0.5		8.02 ±	1.5	•
2	C.roseus 1000mg	$7.98 \pm$	1.1	1	$5.86 \pm$	1.6	0.3
3	C. roseus 5000mg	$7.84 \pm$	1.0	1	$6.2 \pm$	1.1	0.5
4	M. africana 1000mg	$8.18 \pm$	0.9	1.00	$8.64 \pm$	1.8	1.0
5	M. africana 5000mg	$7.5 \pm$	0.9	1.00	$6.48 \pm$	0.8	0.7
6	R. officinalis 1000mg	$8.72 \pm$	2.1	0.9	$8.72 \pm$	2.2	1.0
7	R. officinalis 5000g	$7.94 \pm$	2.1	1	$7.48 \pm$	1.0	1.0

 Table 4.4: showing the non-significant effects of total proteins by the 3 plants extracts in acute toxicity.

4.2.3 Total weight gain

Percentage weight gain was significantly low in groups 2 and 3 (treated with C. *roseus*, 1000 and 5000 mg/kg bwt), with means of 3.7 and 4.7% respectively at P < 0.05 testing. The highest weight gain was in group 6, treated with *R. officinalis* 1000 mg/kg bwt with 8.9%, figure 4.11.



Figure 4.11: percentage weight gain of rats treated with the 3 plants extracts in acute toxicity.

4.3 Sub-Acute results

4.3.1 Observations in sub-acute testing of *R. officinalis* in Wistar rats.

The general behavior of the rats was found to be normal throughout the study period. Macroscopic examination did not show any changes in the colour of organs of the treated animals compared with the untreated animals. There was no change observed in the feeding behavior.

4.3.2 Hematological analysis in sub-acute toxicity.

One way ANOVA on hematological measurement showed no significant difference between the non-treated groups (baseline) and the control group, p > 0.05.

At the 14th day measurements, mean WBC of group 4 (3000mg/kg bwt) was found to be significantly different from the control group with a p value of 0.01 and a mean of 24.0 m/mm³ while the control had 15 m/mm³, table 4.5. At day 28, there was still a significant elevation of the WBC, p =0.08, table 8. The mean WBC was also found to increase as the dose increased both at day 14 and day 28, tables 4.6 and 8. HB, MCV, MCH, MCHC, PCV, RBC means showed no significant difference P > 0.05 in sub-acute oral toxicity testing of *R*. *officinalis* neither at 14 or 28 day testing, table 4.5 and 466.

Table 4.5: Hematological parameters at 14th day in sub-acute toxicity

			500		1500			
			mg/kg		mg/kg		3000mg/kg	
	Control		bwt		bwt		bwt	
WBC	15.6 ±	2.5	13.2 ±	5.6	20.3 ±		*27.4 ±	2.1
RBC	$5.9 \pm$	0.6	$6.0 \pm$	0.3	5.8 ±	0.6	5.3 ±	0.7
PCV	$36.6~\pm$	4.4	37.0 ±	2.4	$36.5 \pm$	3.7	$39 \pm$	1.9
Hb	14.3 ±	1.0	$15 \pm$	0.5	$14.0 \pm$	1.3	$13.9 \pm$	1.0
MCV	$62.2 \pm$	2.0	$62.2 \pm$	1.6	63.6 ±	1.7	$63.7 \pm$	2.0
MCH	$24.0~\pm$	1.6	$24 \pm$	0.8	24 ±	1.1	$24 \pm$	0.7
MCHC	$39.2 \pm$	2.4	39.4 ±	1.1	38.4 ±	1.3	$38.6\ \pm$	0.6
Thromb	$235 \pm$	32.1	$277 \pm$	24.6	257 ±	31.2	$221.2 \ \pm$	23.8

*Showing parameter with significant difference

				500 mg/kg		1500		3000	
		Control		bwt		mg/kg bwt		mg/kg bwt	
-	WBC	17.5 ±	5.8	17.9 ±	4.2	17.1 ±	5.0	*24.1	2.1
	RBC	6.0 ±	0.3	5.6 ±	0.4	5.9 ±	0.2	5.7 ±	0.3
	PCV	38.64 ±	1.5	$36.78 \pm$	0.6	37.04 ±	1.5	38.7 ±	0.8
	Hb	15.4 ±	0.4	22.2 ±	16.1	14.5 ±	0.7	14.6 ±	1.1
	MCV	$64.3~\pm$	0.9	64.4 ±	1.3	63.9 ±	3.2	62.4 ±	0.9
	МСН	25 ±	0.8	26 ±	0.4	25 ±	1.2	24 ±	1.2
	MCHC	39.7 ±	0.9	40.7 ±	0.5	39 ±	0.7	39.1 ±	0.8
	Thromb	233 ±	49.7	$239 \pm$	39.0	$209 \pm$	57.4	213 ±	23.3

Table 4.6: hematological parameters at 28th day in sub-acute toxicity

*Showing parameter with significant difference

Analysis of differential cells namely: total neutrophils, eosophils, lymphocytes and monocytes a showed no significant difference with the control at both 14 and 28 days, P > 0.0.5, except at day 14, the lymphocytes in the group 4, treated with 3000 mg/kg bwt were significantly elevated, table 4.7.

%	Neutrophils		Lymphocytes		Eosinor	ohils	Mon	ocytes
1-Control-day 14	18.2 ±	2.8	80.4 ±	3.9	1.2 ±	1.8	0.2±	0.4
2-500mg-14 days	19.6 ±	2.3	79.0 \pm	1.6	$1.2 \pm$	1.3	$0.4\pm$	0.5
3-1500mg-14 days	14.6 \pm	5.5	$84.6~\pm$	5.9	1.4 ±	3.1	$0.8\pm$	1.3
4-3000mg-14 1-days	16.4 ±	4.0	*91.8 ±	4.3	2.0 \pm	2.3	$1.0\pm$	1.2
1-Control-day 28	$20.0 \ \pm$	9.9	80.4 \pm	3.9	$1.2 \pm$	1.1	0.0	0.0
2-500mg-day 28	$20.8~\pm$	19.9	74.2 \pm	15.4	0.4 \pm	0.5	0.6±	0.9
3-1500mg-day 28	$18.2 \pm$	9.8	$82.8~\pm$	6.3	$1.2 \pm$	1.3	$0.4\pm$	0.9
4-3000mg-28 days	$20.8~\pm$	2.8	$85.8~\pm$	4.3	1.2±	1.3	$1.0\pm$	1.2

Table 4.7: Differential cells count in sub-acute toxicity of *R. officinalis* of the 3 doses

* showing significantly different from control

4.3.3 Biochemical parameter analysis in Sub-acute toxicity of *R. officinalis*.

At day 28, the ALAT levels were significantly different in 1500 and 3000 mg/kg bwt groups from the control, p< 0.05. There was no significant difference of ALAT with the control in groups treated 500 mg/kg bwt groups, figure 4.12.


Figure 4.12: Alanine aminotransferase: in sub-acute toxicity of *R. officinalis* of the three doses



Figure 4.13: Total proteins in sub-acute toxicity testing of *R. officinalis* of the three

dose

AST, urea and creatinine were not significant different from the control p > 0.05 in all groups, table 4.8. At 14th and 28th days testing, the total proteins in group 4, was significantly different from the control p = .021 and .019 respectively, table figure 4.13.

groups	AST		creatinin	e	urea	
1 -Control-day 14	57.7±	3.2	$1.2 \pm$	0.1	$39.9 \pm$	7.8
2-500mg/kg bwt-day 14	$49.8~\pm$	8.8	$1.3 \pm$	0.2	$40.8~\pm$	8.4
3-1500mg/kg bwt-day 14	$45.1 \ \pm$	12.7	1.0 \pm	0.2	$43.6~\pm$	4.9
4-3000mg/kg bwt-day 14	$45.5~\pm$	6.9	1.4 \pm	0.2	$44.9~\pm$	3.3
1-Control-day 28	$52.6 \pm$	3.4	$1.2 \pm$	0.2	$42.3 \pm$	6.7
2-500mg/kg bwt-day28	50.7 ±	3.5	1.4 \pm	0.1	45.4 ±	14.8
3-1500mg/kg bwt-day 28	50.9 ±	5.7	1.5 \pm	0.4	46.0 ±	14.6
4-3000mg/kg bwt-day 28	$50.2 \pm$	4.3	1.7 \pm	0.1	$47.5~\pm$	2.1

Table 4.8: showing non-significantly different mean AST, creatinine and urea levels in sub-acute toxicity

4.3.4. Mean weight change in sub-acute toxicity testing of *R. officinalis*.

There was no significant difference in mean weight change of the treated groups with the control in sub-acute testing, P > 0.05, figure 4.14.

4.3.4.1 Organ weights

There was no treatment group that showed significant difference in absolute organ ratio in any of the organs compared to those of the control, p > 0.05 (figure 4.15).



Figure 4.14: Weight profile in sub-acute toxicity testing of *R.officinalis* of the three doses.



Figure 4.15: Effects on absolute organ weight ratios in different treatment groups in sub-acute toxicity testing of *R. officinalis*.

4.4 Results of brine shrimp assay for the 3 plants organic and the aqueous extracts.

% yield of	n-hexane	DCM	DCM:methanol(1:1)	methanol: water (95:5)
Extract				
C. roseus	2	8	14	22
M. africana	2.2	10.4	10	14
R.officinalis	4	12	20	18

 Table 4.9: Percentage extraction yields for organic extraction:

Table 4.10: LC₅₀ of different extracts of *C. roseus,M. africana* and *R. officinalis* (Appendix 1)

Extract/LC ₅₀	hexane	DCM	DCM:methanol	methanol:water	aqueous
C. roseus	159.8	498.5	498.5	3.05	268.5
M. africana	498.5	119.5	498.5	0.34	1820
R. officinalis	498.5	168.8	227.3	498.5	498.5

4.4.1Analysis of brine shrimp assay

4.4.1.1 Controls

The negative controls did not show any mortality of the brine shrimps. The positive controls (etoposides) showed 100, 86.6 and 73.3% mortality corresponding to 1000, 100 and 10 μ g/ml respectively.

4.4.1.2 Brine shrimp cytotoxicity in n-hexane extract

C. roseus hexane extract was the most cytotoxicity with an LC₅₀ value 159.78 μ g/ ml while *M. africana* and *R. officinalis* each had an LC₅₀ of 498.52, table 4.10. All the plants extracts gave 100% mortality at 1000 μ g/ml concentration, figures 4.16, 4.17 and 4.18.

4.4.1.3 Brine shrimp cytotoxicity in dicloromethane (DCM) extracts

Highest cytotoxicity (lowest LC₅₀) value was at the *M. africana* extract (119 μ g/ml) followed by *R. officinalis*, 168 μ g/ml and *C. roseus* μ g/ml 498.5 μ g/ml,table 4.10. (100%) mortality was found to be in all extracts at 1000 μ g/ml.

4.4.1.4 Brine shrimp cytotoxicity in DCM: methanol (1:1)

Highest cytotoxicity was found to be in *R. officinalis* extract LC_{50} of 227.27 µg/ml with 10 % mortality at 100 µg/ml, figure 4.18.

4.4.1.5 Brine shrimp cytotoxicity in methanol:water extract (95:5)

This solvent extract recorded the lowest LC_{50} value among the five different extracts, signifying the strongest cytotoxicity which was with *M. africana* at less than 1 µg/ml followed by *C. roseus* at 3 µg/ml, table 4.10.4.4.1.6 Brine shrimp cytotoxicity in aqueous extract *C. roseus* had the lowest LC_{50} , 265.86 µg/ml in this group of extract followed by *R. officinalis* at 498.5 µg/ml and M. africana being the least cytotoxicity with over 1820.5, table 4.10.



Figure 4.16: Mortality of brine shrimps in different extraction solvents of the C. roseus



Figure 4.17: Mortality of brine shrimps in different extraction solvents of the *M*. *africana*.



Figure 4.18: Mortality of brine shrimps in different extraction solvent of the *R*. *officinalis*

4.5 Phytochemical Results

Test for	R. officinalis	C. roseus	M. africana
Terpenoids			
(Salkowish Test	+ve	+ve	+ve
Tannins			
1)Lead sub acetate	+ve	+ve	+ve
2)Ferric chloride	+ve	+ve	+ve
Anthraquinones	+ve	-ve	-ve
Glycocides	-ve	+ve	-ve
Flavonoids			
1)Ammonium test	+ve	-ve	+ve
2)Aluminium chloride test	+ve	-ve	+ve
Saponins			
Frothing test	+ve	-ve	+ve
Reducing sugars	+ve	+ve	+ve
Alkaloids			
1)Dragerndroff test	-ve	+ve	-ve
2)Mayers test	-ve	+ve	-ve
3)Wagner test	-ve	+ve	-ve

Table 4.11: showing phytochemical results of C. roseus, M. africana and R. officinalis crude extracts

-ve sign and +ve sign indicate absence and presence of phytochemical respectively.

CHAPTER FIVE

5. DISCUSSION, CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

5.1 Discussion

During the evaluation of the toxic characteristics of medicinal plants, the determination of LD_{50} is usually an initial step to be conducted. Data from the acute toxicity study may (a) serve as the basis for classification and labeling; (b) provide initial information on the mode of toxic action of a substance; (c) help arrive at a dose of a new compound; (d) help in dose determination in animal studies; and (e) help determine LD_{50} values that provide many indices of potential types of drug activity. Acute toxicity is usually defined as the adverse change(s) occurring immediately or a short time following a single or short period of exposure to a substance or substances, (Rhodes *et a.l.*,1993).

Acute toxicity studies in animals are conducted using the route intended for human administration, for the administration of the compounds At present the following chemical labelling and classification of acute systemic toxicity based on oral LD_{50} values are recommended by the Organisation of Economic Co-operation and Development ;very toxic, $\leq 5 \text{ mg/kg}$; toxic, $\geq 5 \leq 50 \text{ mg/kg}$; harmful, $\geq 50 \leq 500 \text{ mg/kg}$; and no label, $\geq 500 \leq 2000 \text{ mg/kg}$ OECD,423. Rat models are superior to mouse models for testing the pharmacodynamics and toxicity of potential therapeutic compounds, partially because the number and type of many of their detoxifying enzymes are very similar to those in humans (Lindblad, 2004).

Analysis of blood parameters in animal studies is relevant to evaluate the risk of alterations of the hematopoietic system in toxicity studies, for necessary application to humans. The assessment of hematological parameters could be used to reveal the deleterious effect of foreign compounds including plant extracts on the blood constituents of animals. They are also used to determine possible alterations in the levels of biomolecules such as enzymes, metabolic products, haematology, normal functioning and histomorphology of the organs (Olson *et al.*, 2000)

The Mean corpuscular volume (MCV), mean corpuscular hemoglobin (MCH) and mean corpuscular hemoglobin concentration (MCHC), are red blood cells (RBC) indices used in classifying types of anaemia. Disease or response to toxic substances is indicated by alterations in the key biochemical parameters which are the sensitive indicators of organ function or metabolic defects. The liver plays a major role in the metabolism and detoxification of compounds . It is therefore the prime target organ for drugs and toxic substances (Shah *et al.*, 2011). Biochemical evaluation is important since there are several reports of liver and kidney toxicity related to the use of phytotherapeutic.Alanine aminotransferase (ALAT) , aspartate aminotransferase (AST) and alkaline phosphatase (ALP) are three most important and common liver enzyme key indicators of liver damage (Pieme *et al.*, 2006); Shashi., 2007).

In preclinical toxicity studies, renal changes are particularly liable to occur because of the fact that the kidneys eliminate many drugs and their metabolites (Obidah *et al.*, 2009). In this study, creatinine and urea determinations were critical as markers of kidney function. Total

protein measurements can reflect nutritional status and may be used to screen for and help diagnose kidney and liver diseases and many other conditions (Thierry *et al.*, 2011).

Catharanthus roseus is a well known medicinal plant and widely used in folk medicine/ ayurvedic system. The plant is also used in the Kenya ethnomedicine, (Kokwaro, 1976). In the present study, water solvent for crude extraction of *Catharanthus roseus* leaves was used justifying the ethnomedical where the traditional healers use hot water for extraction (Johns et al., 1990). C. roseus aqueous extract showed no mortality even when an oral dose of 5000 mg per kg body weight in the male Wistar rats was administered. No changes in the behaviour of rats were observed. No adverse gastrointestinal effects were observed after administered with extract up to 5000/mg/kg/bwt. Therefore, the median acute lethal dose value (LD₅₀) was estimated to be more than 5000 mg/kg/bwt (OECD,423). Previous studies found out that 4000 mg/kg bwt of aqueous extract of C. roseus did not cause adverse effects in mice (Chattopadhyay et al., 1991). The current studies showed a 4.7 and 3.7 percentage weight gain in groups treated with 1000 and 5000 mg/kg respectively (figure 4.11). This was significantly lower than for the rats treated with the vehicle and is an indication that though the LD_{50} is within the safety range, the margin of safety is very low. It can be stated that both 1000 mg and 5000 mg/kg bwt C. roseus extracts interfered with the normal metabolism of the animals as corroborated with significant difference (p = .04 and .004 respectively). Chokshi, (2007) and Kevin et al., (2012) also found significant weight decrease after giving rats 5000 mg/kgbwt of *C. roseus* oral methanolic extract.

The effect of *C. roseus* extract on some hematological parameters in the male rats is indicated in WBC,MCV and the platelets (thrombocytes), figures 4.1 and 4.4, MCV is an index of the size of the RBCs. Smaller MCV indicates that the RBCs will be smaller than normal and this is described as microcytic. Elevated MCV, indicates that RBCs will be larger than normal and are termed as macrocytic. RBCs of normal size are termed as normocytic. These size categories are used to classify anaemia types. (Chernecky, 2001). In this study the toxic effect was produced only at a higher dose 5000 mg/kg bwt at 48 hours but not at 14 days. It was suggested that *C. roseus* could interfere with platelets formation as seen in the decreased platelets level , figure 4.6. This may have been attributed by . reduced production and secretion of thrombopoetin, the primary regulator of platelet production (Kaushansky, 1995).and this is an indication that the extract might have a hemostatic property.

ALAT and AST were affected by the *C.roseus* extract, figures 4.7 and 4.8 and this report agrees with (James *et al.*, 2007) where these enzyme were significantly elevated in rabbits fed with aqueous extract of *C. roseus*. Alanine amino transferase is a cytoplasmic enzyme found in very low concentration in the liver and is released into the plasma following hepatocellular damage.

The increase in concentration of this enzyme, as observed in this study suggests the hepatotoxic effect of the aqueous extract of *C. roseus*. Similar observation was made by (Pinkerton *et al.*, 1988) who tested a continuous infusion of *C. roseus* alkaloid Vincristine and found a transient increase in liver enzymes.

Elevated creatinine and urea levels at 48 hours and also at day 14 figures 4.9 and 4.10 suggested that *C.roseus* extract caused a dyfunctioning of the kidneys. This was in agreement with (James *et al.*, 2007) who found an increasing tread of creatinine in mice treated with leaves of *C. roseus*. Creatinine and urea tests are critical and sensitive indicators of kidney function (Obidah *et al.*, 2009). Hepatorenal toxicity is particularly liable to occur because these organs are involved in drug metabolism and elimination (Olson, 2000).

The non significance difference of serum total protein table 4.4, suggests that the renal functioning of the rats may not have been critically impaired (**Kachmar and Grant, 1982**). These results are agreeing with the findings of (Pinkerson *et al.*, 1988; James *et al.*, 2007), who found non significant protein increase in animals feed with aqueous extract of *C. roseus*.

There are no available published conventional safety studies on *Myrsine africana* despite widespread use as an anthelmintic (Zabta *et al.*, 2003; Kokwaro, 1993; Beentje, 2004). The oral acute toxicity testing of aqueous extract of Myrsine africana showed that no animal died at the doses of 1000 or 5000 mg/kg bwt within 24 hours. There was no delayed toxicity since even at day 14 post extract administration the animals showed no physiological impairment. This suggests that, this extract has an LD₅₀ > 5000 mg/kg bwt in rats. According to (Schorderet,1992), substances with LD₅₀ values greater than 5000 mg/kg body weight are classified as substances with low toxicity. The fact that there was no significant total weight loss in rats treated with *M. africana* supports the low toxicity implied by the LD₅₀ classification (Schorderet, 1992, This justifies why the plant has a widespread use via oral route by traditional healers in Kenya (Nanyingi, *et al.*, 2008)

The non significant change of WBC level by *Myrsine africana* aqueous seed extract, figure 4.4 suggested that no inflammation triggering the immune system was caused by this extract (Imaga *et al.*, 2009). Mean RBC, PCV and MCHC were significantly different at 48 hours but normalized at day 14, figures 4.2, 4.3 and 4.4, suggesting that there may be a correlation between these responses and dosage (Banerjee *et al.*, 2002).

Non- significant levels of HB, MCH MCV and thrombocytes (tables 4.2 & 4.3, figures 4.4 & 4.6) in *M. africana* treated groups suggested that *M. africana* at these doses did not induce anaemia in the rats.

Increased PCV at a dose of 5000 mg/kg bwt of animals treated with *M. africana* at 48 hours but went back to baseline values at day 14, figure 4.3, suggested that this extract could trigger toxicity in a dose related manner. (Githiori *et al.*, 2002) tested the efficacy of *M. africana* extract in sheep innoculated with nematodes and found a significant reduction of PCV. Increase in the RBC count in the treated animals with 5000 mg/kg bwt,figure 4.2 displays the blood promoting action of the *M. africana* extract as explained by (Zhong,1985). An increased RBC, unaltered WBC and Platelets (thrombocytes) suggests a strong immuno-modulatory, antioxidant and endothelial protection and repair activity of *Myrsine africana* extracts (Imaga *et al*, 2009). This is explained by the fact that WBC protect the body from infection by foreign organisms, the RBC boost the immune system and the platelets protect blood vessels from endothelial damage as well as initiate repair of these vessels (Olson, 2000). The current finding agrees with previous findings that the *M. africana* plant extract possess radical scavenging ability (Ahmad *et al.*, 2011). Reduced MCHC, figure 4.5, may be an indicator of hypochromia in early iron deficiency (Rose and Bentley, 1986).

The significantly high *M. african* induced elevated AST at days 14 for both the low and the high dose, and not at 48 hours, figure 11, is an indication of the presence of delayed liver toxicity (OECD,423) suggesting possible cellular damage to the liver by the extract (Cavanaugh, 2003).

Elevated creatinine by *M. africana* at 48 hours ,figure 4.9, indicating possible renal dyfunction. At day 14, there was no significant difference and hence it is dose-dependent extract which might not be very indicative of the glomerular filtration rate (GFR). The increased serum urea at day 14 whereas this parameter had low values at 48 hours, figure 4.10 for both high and low dose, might be as a result of tissue damage indicative of tissue necrosis (Eaton and Pooler, 2009). However this condition was not so severe since the total protein in this group did not have significant difference from that of the untreated group, table 4.4.

The results of this study indicated that *R. officinalis* aqueous extract on rats had an LD₅₀ >5000 mg/kg/bwt since there was no death at the tested doses (1000 and 5000 mg/kg bwt) neither no signs of toxicity recorded. These results are agreement with (Arturo *et al.*, 2008) where oral LC₅₀ for rosemary aqueous leaf extract was established to be > 2000 mg/kg bwt in Wistar rats and >8.5mg/kg bwt for ethanolic extract in rats (EFSA, 2008). Rosemary aqueous extract is therefore a low toxic substance, (OECD, 423). This was also established by,

Haloui *et al.*, (2000); Sancheti *et al.*, (2006). Most common human exposure to rosemary occurs through ingestion of this plant as a food additive. The extract did not show an obvious alteration to the metabolic process seeing that there was no significant change of weight profile compared with the control. This low toxicity was validated by the fact that all hematological parametres in the rats did not show any significant difference at both the low and the high dose; 1000 and 5000 mg/kg bwt at both 48 hours and 14 days testing. Analysis of blood parameters in animal studies is relevant to evaluate the risk of alterations of the hematopoietic system in toxicity studies, for necessary application to humans and the study suggests that *R. officinalis* is safe (Olson *et al.*, 2000).

In the group treated with 1000 and 5000 mg/kg bwt of *R. officinalis*, ALAT was significantly reduced at 48 hours but it became reversible to normal at day 14, figure 4.13. Liver enzymes (ALAT and AST) are liberated into the blood whenever liver cells are damaged and enzyme activity in the plasma is increased (Edwards, *et al.*, 1995).

Acute renal failure (ARF), as a clinical syndrome characterized by a rapid decline in the ability of kidney to remove waste products, disturbance in acid-base balance, water homeostasis, and rapid reduction in glomerular filtration rate (GFR) (Bagshaw and Bellomo, 2007). This condition was not induced by the *R. officinalis* aqueous extract since creatinine, urea and total proteins values (figures 4.9, 4.10, and 4.11) were not significantly altered in the treated rats with *R. officinalis* groups compared with the control group. These biochemical results are supported by studies done by (Zohrabi *et al.*, 2012) which showed that rosemary aqueous extract protects the rats against histological injury and functional

impairmet. Anado' n *et al.*, (2007) established that oral extract of *R* .*officinalis* in the rats did not affect the hematological and the biochemical parameter at dose of 2000 mg/kg bwt.

The need to evaluate the sub-acute toxicity profile of *R. officinalis* leaf aqueous extract was prompted by the increasing awareness and interest in natural product medicinal. This plant is widely used in Kenya and the whole world but little information on toxicity of the aqueous extract (which is more commonly administered in the ethnomedicine practice), is provided. Plant extracts are good source of biologically active substances but knowing the side effects before therapeutic application is essential.

Differential WBC count is usually done in order to provide information on the proportion of the different white blood cells present in circulating blood (Cheesbrough, 2000; Tatfeng and Enitan, 2012). In this study the significantly increased lymphocytes at day 14 sub acute toxicity, table 4.7, suggests that the extract induced lymphocytosis, confirming the protective nature of the rosemary extract. One of the major functions of lymphocyte is their response to antigen (foreign bodies) by forming antibodies that circulate in the blood or in the development of cellular immunity. These results are in agreement with earlier reported by (Fawzi *et al.*, 2012) where the immunomodulatory activity of aqueous extract of *R. officinalis* was evaluated in mice and showed that IgM (Immunoglobulin M) and IgG (Immunoglobulin G) response increased significantly when the mice were fed with the extract.

Elevated alanine aminotransferase (ALAT) in the repeated dose toxicity study at day 28 in 1500 and 3000mg/kg bwt groups, figure 4.12 showed that at doses of above 1500 mg/kg bwt,

R. officinalis could be toxic to the liver. European Food Safety Authority has established that rosemary non-observed-adverse-effects-level (NOAEL) values are in the range of 180 to 400 mg extract/kg bwt per day. This was based on 90-days feeding studies in rats, (EFESA, 2008). In the current study, the high and low doses did not induce any alteration to the urea and creatinine, table10, which are used as kidney toxicity indicator.

Both low and high doses of *R. officinalis* extract did not show significant change in body and organs weight as former studies showed (Dimech *et al.*, 2006). *R. officinalis* extract was shown to exhibit low toxicity in the animal model (Haloui *et al.*, 2000 and Sancheti *et al.*, 2006). Oral administration of *R. officinalis* should hence be taken at doses \leq 1500 mg/kg.

The medicinal action of the plants is unique to a particular plant species, consistent with the concept that the combination of secondary metabolites in a particular plant is taxonomically distinct for each medicinal plants and their description and uses respectively. Some of the most important bioactive phytochemical constituents are alkaloids, essential oils,flavonoids, tannins, terpenoid, saponins, phenolic compounds and many more (Edeoga *et al.*, 2005). Saponins are plant-based anti-inflammatory compounds that may lower blood cholesterol and prevent heart disease as well as some cancers (Xu *et al.*, 1996). Both *M. africana* and *R. officinalis* were found to contain flavonoids. Tannins have shown potential antiviral, (*Lu et al.*, 2004)^r antibacterial^r (Akiyama *et al.*, 2011) and antiparasitic effects (Kolodziej *et al.*, 2005). All the 3 plants were found to contain tannins.

Flavonoids are capable of modulating the activity of enzymes and affect the behaviour of many cell systems, suggesting that these compounds may possess significant antihepatotoxic, antiallergic, anti-inflammatory, antiosteoporotic and even antitumor activities, (Carlo *et al.*, 1999; Cushnie and Lamb, 2005). *C. roseus* was found not to contain this phytochemical but the other two plants had it. Pure isolated plant alkaloids and their synthetic derivatives are used as basic medicinal agents for their analgesic, antispasmodic and bactericidal effects. Alkaloids are also kwown for their cytotoxicity (Nobori *et al.*, 1969). Glycosides are known to lower the bloodpressure according to many reports (Stray, 1998). *C. roseus* has been used for cancer treatment, anti-diabetic, reduce high blood pressure, externally against nose bleeding, sore throat and mouth ulcer (Kokwaro, 1976). Traditional use of *C. roseus* as an anthelminthic agent has been recorded, (Hoskeri *et al.*, 2011).

The Phytochemical investigations on the crude aqueous and methanolic extract of dry fruits of *M. africana* showed presence of terpenoids, tannins, flavonoids, saponins, reducing sugars as the active compounds,table4.11. The present study shows the absence of cardiac glycosides, anthraquinones and alkaloids. The presence of the above phytochemicals supported the following studied pharmacological activity of *M. aficana:* anti-tumor activity of aerial part, (Kupchan *et al.*,1969), purgative (Kakrani *et al.*,1983)⁻ anti-fertility, (Belachew, 1994), anthelmintic and phytotoxic, (Gathuma *et al.*, 2004), haemagglunitation activity (Ahmad *et al.*, 2011) and antimicrobial, (Habtamu *et al.*, 2004).

Rosemary (*Rosmarinus officinalis* L.) is a spice and medicinal herb widely used around the world. Of the natural antioxidants, rosemary has been widely accepted as one of the spices

with very high antioxidant activity and anticancer agent (Leal *et al.*, 2003), preservative qualities (Oiye *et al.*,2013). These reports agree with the current finding of the presence of terpenoids, tannins, cardiac glycosides, flavonoids, reducing sugars, saponins in extract.

Cytotoxicity studies play an important role in identification and isolation of new compounds from crude extracts (Sasidharan, 2008). Brine shrimp larva are highly sensitive to a variety of chemical substances. The assay is considered a useful tool for preliminary toxicity assessment of plant extract (Sol'y's et al., 1993, McLauglin et al., 1991). Plant parts such as roots, leaves, stems, rhizomes and fruits possess a myriad of chemical constituents that are biologically active against various disease conditions (Van and Wink, 2004). In this study, solvents of varying polarity were used in the extraction procedure in an attempt to study the range cytotoxicity of compounds obtained at different polarities from the leaves of C. roseus, *R. officinalis* and of *M. africana*. Brine shrimp lethality assay is a rapid inexpensive and simple bioassay for testing plant extracts bioactivity, the result in most cases correlate with cytotoxic and antitumor properties of the plant (McLaughlin et al., 1991). The activities of the extracts are manifested as toxicity to shrimps by bioactive components present in the extracts. A substance is considered to be cytotoxic if it inhibits vital metabolic processes or it causes disorders in living organisms resulting in perversion of behavior or death (Fatope, 1995). Standard brine shrimp lethality bioassay stipulates that an LC₅₀ value $< 1000 \mu g/$ ml is considered bioactive in toxicity evaluation of plant extracts (Meyer *et al.*, 1982)

The current study showed that the degree of lethality was found to be directly proportional to the concentration of the extracts. Maximum mortalities took place at a concentration of 1000 μ g/ ml whereas least mortalities was found at 10 μ g/ ml , figures 4.16, 4.17 and 4.18. The

positive control had an LC₅₀ of 3.0 μ g/ ml which is slightly different from earlier calculations of (Nguta *et al.*, 2012) which found etoposide to have an LC₅₀ of 6 μ g/ ml. This difference is within a reasonable margin owing to the fact that different bioassay environments and calculation method may differ.

Different solvents, depending on their polarity, extract varying quantities of components in crude plant material that may be beneficial or harmful to biological systems. Hexane, for instance, extracts waxes, fats, and fixed oils (Cowan, 1999). *C. roseus* had the highest toxicity in this extraction solvent showing that most cryptogenic compounds were extracted. This report validates the study done by (Usia *et al.*, 2005; Murata *et al.*, 2008) that found triterpenoids, ursolic acid and oleanolic acid in considerable amounts in the leaf cuticular wax layer of *C. roseus*.

An LC₅₀ greater than 500 exhibited by hexane extracts of both *M. africana* and *R. officinalis* was indicative of high cytotocity and possible presence of wax ,fats and fixed oils. This justifies the reason for these plants therapeutic uses in many areas. Earlier study had shown that *M. africana* hexane extract had a highest mortality of brine shrimps compared to other solvents and it indicated an LC ₅₀ of 33 μ g/ ml which is a big discrepancy with the current report (Ahmad *et al.*, 2011). This can be explained by the fact that different extraction methods yield different amounts of the bioactive compounds (Cowan,1999). In the previous findings, partitioning of a methanolic extract with n-hexane was done yielding much more cytotogenic components than what was gotten by maceration extraction in the current study.

In another study (Amara *et al.*, 2008), *C. roseus* hexane extract gave an brine shrimp LC_{50} of 107µg/ ml which is close to the value of the current study of 159 µg/ ml.

Dicloromethane which is a more polar solvent than hexane, commonly extracts alkaloids, aglycones, and volatile oils (Cowan,1999). The LC₅₀ for *C. roseus, M. africana* and *R. officinalis* in this solvent were 498.5, 119.5 and 168 μ g/ ml, respectively, table 4.10, showing that lesser of cytogenic compounds of *C. roseus*, more polar cytogenic component in *M. africana* and *R. officinalis*, were extracted by this solvent than in the hexane.

DCM: methanol solvent extracted more potent copounds in *R. officinalis* than in *C. roseus* and *M. africana*. This is indicated by the brine shrimp mortality caused by these extracts. Water has been found to improve the efficiency of less polar solvents particularly pure organic solvent. This implies that 80% acetone would extract more components compared to pure acetone (Keinanen, 1993). More study of structure elucidation can be able to identify each compound extracted by different solvents.

Methanol: water solvent extract yielded extremely high cytogenic secondary metabolites of *C. roseus* and *Myrsine africana*. These extracts had LC_{50} of 3.5 and < 1 µg/ ml respectively, table 11. Low LC_{50} value indicates possibility of the presence of antitumor and insecticidal compounds in the extract (Krishnaraju *et al.*, 2005). The flower of *C. roseus* extract was found to have a brine shrimp LC_{50} of less than 1 µg/ ml (Rahmatullah *et al.*, 2010). This is a demonstration that these compounds could be important in pharmaceutical industry (Laird and Kate, 1999). Previous studies found methanolic *M. africana* bark to have brine shrimp

 LC_{50} greater than 1000 µg/ ml (Gakuya *et al.*, 2004) and hence the seed of *M. afrcana* is suggested to be more potent than the bark.

M. africana aqueous extract was found to be non- toxic to the brine shrimps recording LC_{50} of >1000 µg/ ml. This can possibly explain why the leaves and fruits extracts against *Haemonchus contortus* in sheep was uneffective as it was demonstrated by (Githiori *et al.*, 2002). This currentst study results agree with (Ahmad *et al.*, 2011) who found non significant brine shrimp toxicity of the aqueous extract of the aerial part *M. africana*.

C. roseus extract was the most cytogenic of the aqueous extrcts with an LC₅₀ of 256.7 μ g/ml. Earlier studies showed an aqueous extract of the leaves of *C. roseus* to have an LC₅₀ of 170 μ g/ml (Krishnaraju *et al.*, 2005), a figure close to the one reported in this study.

R. officinalis aqueous extract had moderate cytotoxicity. LC_{50} 498 µg/ ml. Rosemary hot water infusion is commonly taken as herbal tea (Blumenthal and Brinckmann) and the brine shrimp moderate cytotoxicity validates this plants therapeutic property.

5.2 Conclusions

Today, a resurgence of the use of natural products remedies is being observed worldwide. This trend has been partly due to concerns over the serious adverse effects of conventional drugs and the movement towards a more natural life. There is need therefore, to provide information on the pharmacology as well as the toxic effects of these remedies to validate their use. The following were the conclusions drawn from the study:

1) Acute toxicity studies established that the aqueous extract of *Catharanthus roseus*, Myrsine *africana* and *Rosmarinus officinalis* did not cause any death or adverse effect in the rats. The LD_{50} was established to above 5000mg/kg/ bwt in a Wistar rats. However, from the blood investigation, it showed that consumption *C. roseus* and *M. africana* extracts may bring about acute renal-hepato and hemapoietic toxicity. This was demonstrated by the significant elevation a number of parameters. Consequently, safety measures need to be taken in the administration of these extracts and these may include monitoring of the vital serum enzyme and hematological levels.

Rats treated with *C. roseus* had significantly low weight gain and therefore this plant proved to be the more toxic than *M. africana* and *R. officinalis* if consumed orally. *R. officinalis* showed very low toxicity since only ALAT was elevated in acute testing.

2) The current findings provide the basis for the selection of doses for use in long-term toxicity studies, which are important in order to provide safety data for repeated dose effects of these plants.

3) An oral sub-acute toxicity testing of *R. officinalis* for 28 days showed that this extract could be of non-toxic at low doses up to 1500 mg/kg bwt since none of the blood parameters was significantly elevated but at higher doses, toxicity was recorded being demonstrated by elevated WBC, percentage lymphocytes and ALAT by the 1500 and 3000 mg/kg bwt extracts.

4) This study reported the presence of various phytochemicals terpenoids, tannins, anthraquinones, alkaloids and reducing sugar in *C. roseus*. Terpenoids, tannins, flavonoids, saponins and reducing sugars were found in *Myrsine africana*. Terpenoids, tannins, cardiac glycosides, flavonoids, reducing sugars and saponins were present in *R. officinalis*. It was concluded that these bioactive compounds were responsible for the biochemical, hematological and the brine shrimp effects that were recorded. The same ones and others not

83

explored are responsible for the medicinal properties used in the treatment of different ailments using these plants. Therefore, extracts from these plants could be seen as a good source for useful drugs.

5) Different bioactive components were extracted by different extraction solvents. This was demonstrated by the brine shrimp assay results whereby different extracts of the same plant yielded a different mortality effects on the brine shrimps.

6) Low LC₅₀, $< 10 \ \mu$ g/ml, demonstrated by the methanolic extract of *M. africana* indicated the possibility of the presence of potent antitumor and insecticidal compounds (Krishnaraju *et al.*, 2005). *C. roseus*, methanolic extract also exhibited low LC₅₀ and confirms its wide use as source of anticancer drugs.

5.3 Recommedations

The current study showed that *C. roseus, M. africana and R. officinalis* contained several metabolites and may contain much more than was studied. There is therefore need for further investigations purified chemical components. Isolation of the active principle of these extracts is key to drug discovery and it is highly recommeded.

It is also important to perform long term toxicity testing (sub-acute and chronic) for all of the studied plants inorder to provide data that will encourage good use, monitor any adverse effects and form a background basis for the development of these plants.

Monitoring of vital enzymes and hematological parametres for someone who is on long term use of natural products even though the products may be esteemed as non-toxic, is of essence as a safety precaution. It therefore recommeded that persons taking rosemary for a long time should have blood parmetres monitored.

REFERENCES

- Abubakar M.G, Ukwuani A N and Shehu RA. (2008):Phytochemical screening and antibacterial ctivity of Tamarindusindica Pulp ExtractAsian Journal of Biochemistry. 3(2):134-138
- Adenisa S.K, Idowu O, Ogundaini A.O, Oladimeji H, Olugbade T.A, Onawunmi
 G.O.(2000): Antimicrobial constituents of the leaves of *Acalypha wilkesiana* and *Acalypha hispida*. Phytotherapy Research 14:371-374
- Agarwal, S; Rao, AV (2001). "Lycopene Content of Tomato Products: Its Stability, Bioavailability and in Vivo Antioxidant Properties". Journal of medicinal food 4 (1): 9–15.
- Agbaje EO, Adeneye AA, Daramola AO (2009). Biochemical and toxicological studies of aqueous extract of *Syzigiumaromaticum (L.) Merr. and Perry* (Myrtaceae) in rodents
 The African Journal of Traditional, Complementary and *Alternative* medicines 6(:2)
)14–54.
- Ahmad 1S, Azam S, Bashir S, Khan 1, Ali N. and Chaudhary M. (2011): Phytotoxic, Antibacterial and Haemagglutination activities of the aerial parts of Myrsine africana L. African Journal of Biotechnology Volume. 10(1): 97-102
- Ahmad B, Azam S, Bashir S., Hussain F and Chaudhary M I.(2011) :Insecticidal, brine shrimp cytotoxicity, antifungal and nitric oxide free radical scavenging activities of theaerial parts of *Myrsine africana* L. African Journal of Biotechnology 10(8):1448-1453
- Ahmad IZ, Khan SA, Mujib A, and Sharma MP, (2010). Cantharanthus roseus (L.). An important drug: It's applications and production, Pharmacie Globale, IJCP, 4 (12):1-16.
- Ahmed M S, Ali M and Ibrahim M (2010): Antidiabetic Activity of Vinca rosea Extracts in Alloxan-Induced Diabetic Rat. International Journal of Endocrinology 01/2010; 2010:841090;
- Akhila, J.S., Deepa, S. and Alwar, M. C.(2007): Acute toxicity studies and determination of median lethal dose. Current Science., 93 : 917 – 920.

- Akiyama H, Fujii K, Yamasaki O, Oono T, Iwatsuki K (2011). Antimicrobial action of several tannins against Staphylococcus aureus. Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy 48 (4) :487–91.
- Alam MB, Hossain MS, Chowdhury NS, Mazumder MEH, Haque ME (2011). In vitro and in vivo antioxidant and toxicity evaluation of different fractions of *Oxalis corniculata* linn. Journal of Pharmacology and Toxicology 6:337-48.
- Aly AH, Debbab A, Kjer J, Proksch P. (2010): Fungal endophytes from higher plants: a prolific source of phytochemicals and other bioactive natural products. Fungal Diversity 41(1): 1 -16.
- Amanlou M, Ataie S, Farsam H.(2005). Xanthohumol from Humulus lupulus cultivated in Iran. Journal of Medicinal and Aromatic Plant Science.27; 469 475.
- Amara AA, EL-Masry MH and Bogdady H.(2008): Plant crude extracts could be the solutio: extracts showing in vivo antitumorigenic activity. Pakistan journal of pharmaceutical sciences. 21(2): 159-171.
- Anadón A.,Martínez-Larrañaga MR.,Martínez MA.,Ares I., García-Risco MR., Señoráns FJ.and Reglero G.(2008):Acute oral safety study of rosemary extracts in rats. African Journal of Food Products 71(4):790-795
- Applebaum, SW, Kirk Y (1979). Saponins: In Rosenthal, G.A., Janzen, D.H. (Eds.), Herbivores. Their interaction with secondary plant metabolites. Academic Press, New York, pp. 539–566.
- Ashafa AOT, Yakubu MT, Grierson DS, Afolayan AJ (2009). Effects of aqueous leaf extract from the leaves of *Chrysocoma ciliate L*. on some biochemical parameters of Wistar rats. African Journal of Biotechnology.;8:1425-1430.

Aslam J, Khan SH, Siddiqui ZH, Fatima Z, Maqsood M, Bhat MA, Nasim SA, Ilah A,

Bagshaw SM, Bellomo R (2007): Acute renal failure. Surgery, 25: 391-398.

Bajaj YPS (1999). Biotechnology in agriculture and forestry. Berlin: Springer-Verlag.

Bakirel TU., Keles OU., Ulgen S.G.and Yardibi H. (2008): In vivo assessment of antidiabetic and antioxidant activities of rosemary (*Rosmarinus officinalis*) in alloxan-diabetic rabbits. Journal of Ethnopharmacology 116(1):64-73.

- Banerjee, S. K., Maulik, S. K. (2002). Effect of garlic on cardiovascular disorders: A review Journal of Nutrition (1)4: 1-14
- Barnes J., Anderson LA, Phillipson JD (2007). Textbook of Herbal Medicines, 3rd edition Pharmaceutical Press, London, Chicago. .pages 252-301
- Beentje H (1994): Kenya Trees, Shrubs, and Lianas; National Museums of Kenya
- Belachew D 1994 . Ethiopian traditional herbal drugs. Part III: Anti-fertility activity of 70 medicinal plants. Journal of Ethnopharmacology ; 44(3) :199-209.
- Berdy J. (2005): Bioactive Microbial Metabolites: a personal view. Journal of Antibiotics 58:1–26
- Bhanot A, Rohini S R and Noolvi MN (2011). : Natural sources as potential anti-cancer agents. International Journal of Phytomedicine, **3** : 09-26.
- Blumenthal M., GoldbergA. and Brinckmann J.(2000): Herbal Medicine: Expanded Commission E Monographs. Newton, MA: Integrative Medicine Communications: 326-329
- Boopathi CA and Sivakumar R, (2011): Phytochemical screen-ing studies on the leaves and stem of Andrographis neesiana wight –An endemic medicinal plant from India. . World Applied Science Journa 12: 307-311
- Bussmann R, Gilbreath G, Solio J, Lutura M, Lutuluo R, Kunguru K, Wood N and Mathenge S (2006). Plant use of the Maasai of Sekenani Valley, Maasai Mara, Kenya. Journal of Ethnobiology and Ethnomedicine 2: 22-24
- **Butler M.S.and Buss, A.D.(2006)**: Natural products—the future scaffolds for novel antibiotics? Biochemical Pharmacology.**71**, 919–929
- Butler, M.S (2004). The role of natural product in chemistry in drug discovery. Journal. Natural. Products. 67:2141–2153.
- Campbell MK and Farrell SO (2012): Biochemistry. USA: Mary Finch: p. 459
- Carlo GD, Mascolo N, Izzo AA, Capasso F (1999). Flavonoids: Old and New aspects of a class of Natural Therapeutic Drugs. Life Sciences. 65 :337-353
- Cavanaugh BM.(2003. Nurse's Manual of Laboratory and Diagnostics Tests. 4th Edition.FA. Davis Company, Philadelphia. : 688-690

- Chan P, Fu PP. (2007). Toxicity of *Panax ginseng* :An herbal medicine and dietary supplement. Journal of Food and Drug analysis 15(4): 416-427.
- Chattopadhyay RR. Sarkar SK. Ganguly S. Banerjee RN. Basu TK. (1991): Hypoglycemic and antihyperglycemic effect of leaves of *Vinca rosea* Linn. Indian Journal of Physiologyand Pharmacology 35: 145-51
- Cheesbrough M (2002): Differential White Cells Count, Haematological Tests. In: Cheesbrough M, (edition). District Laboratory Practice in Tropical Countries,Part 2 pp. 324–325
- Cheng ZF, Zhen C. The Cheng Zhi-Fan. (2004): Collectanea of Medical History. Beijing (2004) China: Peking University Medical Press.
- Chernecky C, Barbara C. Berger J. (2001). Laboratory Tests and Diagnostic Procedures, 3rd edition. Philadelphia, PA: W. B. Saunders Company .
- **Chokshi D. 2007**: Subchronic oral toxicity of a standardized white kidney bean. (Phaseolus vulgaris) extract in rats Food and Chemical Toxicology.; *45*: 32 40.
- Collu G, Unver N, Peltenburg-Looman AM, van der Heijden R, Verpoorte R, Memelink J (2001) :Geraniol 10-hydroxylas, a cytochrome P450 enzyme involved in terpenoid indole alkaloid biosynthesis. FEBS Letters. 508: 215–220
- Conn E.E., (1979). Cyanide and cyanogenic glycosides. In: Rosenthal GA., Janzen D.H. (Eds.), Herbivores. Their Interaction with Secondary Plant Metabolites. Academic Press, New York, pp. 387–412
- Cowan M (1999): Plant products as antimicrobial agents. Clinical Microbiology Reviews 12 (4): 564-582.
- Criagg, GM. and David, JN. (2001): Natural products of some Nigerian Medicinal Plants. African Journal of Biotechnology 4: 685-688
- Curry SH., Decory HH., Gabrielsson J. and Phase I., (2011). The first opporturnity for extrapolation from animal data to human exposure. In: Edwards LD., Fox AW., Stonier PD. editions. Principles and practise of Pharmaceutical Medicine. 3rd edition. West Succex, Wiley-Blackwell: 85-98.
- Cushnie T P T , Lamb A J. (2005): Antimicrobial activity of flavonoids. International Journal of Antimicrobial Agents 26(5): 343-356.

- De Bruyne T, Pieters L, Deelstra H, Vlietinck A. (1999) Condensed vegetables tannins: biodiversity in structure and biological activities. Biochemical System Ecology, Vol 127: 445–59.
- De Smet PM. (1995) :Health risk of Herbal Remedies. Drug Safety 13(2): 81-93
- **Der Marderosian, A.; Beutler, J.A (2002).** The Review of Natural Products, second edition.; Facts and Comparisons; Seattle, WA, USA, pp. 13–43
- **Dev S (1999):** Ancient–modern concordance in Ayurvedic plants: some examples. Environ Health Perspect **107**: 783–789
- **Diggle SP., West S.A.** and **Griffin A. (1998):** Evolutionary theory of bacterial quorum sensing, when is a signal not a signal? Journal of Natural Products: **61**: 1053-1071.
- Dimech GS, Gonçalves ES, Araújo AV, Arruda VM, Baratella-Evêncio L, Wanderley AG (2006.):Effects of the oral treatment with *Copaifera multijuga* oil on reproductive performance of male Wistar rats. Rev Bras Farmacogn 16: 152-157
- Eaton DC and JP Pooler (2009): Vander's Physiology.7th Edition. McGraw-Hill Lange,USA.; 230-367
- Edeoga H.O.,Okwu D.E. and Mbaeble BO.(2005):Biomolecular and phytochemical analyses of three aquatic angiosperms. African Journal of Microbiological Research 3(8):418-421.
- Edwards, C.R.W., Bouchier, I.AD., Haslet, C. and Chilvers, E.R. (1995). Davidson's
- **EFSA (2008)**: Use of rosemary extracts as a food additive, Scientific Opinion of the Panel on Food Additives, Flavourings, Processing Aids and Materials in Contact with Food (Question No EFSA-Q-2003-140).
- Ekwall B(1992) .Validation of in vitro cytotoxicity tests. In: In Vitro Alternatives to Animal Pharmaco-Toxicology Castell JV,G6mez-Lech6n MJ, editions Madrid:Farmaindustria :361-390.
- Evans WC (2002). Trease and Evans pharmacognosy,15th edn. W.R. sauders, London. pp 137-140
- Fabrega H. (2004): The Scope of Ethnomedicine Science. Culture, Medicine, and Psychiatry. Third edition, Princeton: Princeton University Press, 1(2): 201-228

- Fatope MO (1995). Phytocompounds: Their bioassay and diversity. Discovery and Innovation, food. In: Aruoma, O.I. and Halliwell, B., editions. Free Radicals and Food Additives, London: Taylor and Francis Ltd., pp. 77-119.
- **Finney DJ (1971):** Probit analysis; 3rd edition. London: Cambridge University Press, pp. 1–333.
- Fragoso LR, Esparza JR, Brirchiel SW, Ruiz DH, Torres E. (2008). Risks and benefits of commonly used herbal medicines in Mexico. 227:125–351. Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology
- Frishman WH, Sinatra ST, Moizuddin M (2004). The use of herbs for treating cardiovascular disease Seminars in Integrative Medicine. , 2: 23-35.Fundamentals of Clinical Chemistry. 2nd Edition, W.B. Saunders Company, Philadelphia, USA.pp. 849-944.
- **Frode TS and Medeiros YS (2008).** Anima models to test drugs with potential antidiabeticactivity. Journal of Ethanopharamacology: 115: 173 183.
- Gakuya, D.W.; Mbaria, J.M.; Mbithi, P.M.F.; Munene, R.W. (2004). Evaluation of the Bioactivity of some Traditional Medicinal Plants using the Brine Shrimp Lethality Test. Kenya Veterinarian 26: 8-11. 24
- Gathuma Jm, Mbaria J M, Wanyama, Kaburia H F, Mpolce L J N.(2004): Samburu and Turkana healers. Efficacy of *Myrsine africana*, Albizia anthelmintica and Hilderbrantia sepalosa herbal remedies against mixed natural sheep helminthosis in samburu district, Kenya. Journal of ethnopharmacology.; 91 : 7-12.
- Githiori JB.,Hoglund J.,Waller PJ. and Baker RL.(2002). Anthelmintic activity of preparations derived from *M.africana* and *R. melanophloeos* against the parasite, *H. contortus* of sheep. Journal of Ethnopharmacology 80(2-3):187-191.
- **Goldman P. (2001)**:Herbal medicines today and the roots of modern pharmacology. Annals of Interal Medicine .;135:594–600.
- Gregoretti B, Stebel M, Candussio L, Crivellato E, Bartoli F, Decorti G (2004): Toxicity of *Hypericum perforatum* (St. John's wort) administered during pregnancy and lactationin rats. Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology; 200(3): 201-205.

- Habtamu Y, Eguale T, Wubete A, Sori T.(2010). In vitro antimicrobial activity of some selected ethiopian medicinal plants against some bacteria of veterinary importance. African Journal of Microbiology Research; 4(12) : 1230-1234.
- Haefner, B. 2003. Drugs from the deep: Marine natural products as drug candidates. Drug Discovery Today. 8: 536–544.
- Haloui M, Louedec L, Michel JB, Lyoussi B (2000). Experimental diuretic effects of Rosmarinus officinalis and *Centaurium erythraea*. Journal of Ethnopharmacoogyl., 71: 465-472.
- Haraguchi H, Saito T, Okamura N, Yagi A (1995). Inhibition of lipid peroxidation and superoxide generation by diterpenoids from *Rosmarinus officinalis* Principles and practice of Medicine, 17th edition. Churchill Livingstone, Pp. 488 – 490.
- Harborne JB (1999). An overview of antinutritional factors in higher plants. In: Secondary plants products. Antinutritional and beneficial actions in animal feeding Caygill JC and Mueller-Harvey I,eds. Nottingham Univ Press, UK. 7-16.
- Harborne JR (1993).:Introduction to ecological biochemistry. 4th edition. London: Elsevier; pp.255-289
- Harvey AL (2008): Natural products in drug discovery. Drug discovery Today 13(19/20): 894-901.
- Heyman HM, Hussein AA, Meyer JJM, Lall N (2009). Antibacterial activity of South African medicinal plants against methicillin resistant Staphylococcus aureus. Pharmaceutical Biology ; 47: 6 7-71.
- Higdon, J. (2007): In An Evidence-Based Approach to Dietary Phytochemicals. First edition New York Thieme: 155-161
- Hirose F, Ashihara H (1984). Metabolic regulation in plant cell culture-fine control of purine nucleotide biosynthesis in intact cells of Catharanthus roseus. Journal of Plant Physiology. ;116:417–423.
- Hoskeri J. Agarwall S, Jacob S, Chettri N, Bisoyi S, Tazeen A, Vedamurthy A, Krishna V (2011). Evaluation of *In-vitro* Anthelminthic Activity of *Catharanthus roseus* Extract. International Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences and Drug Research 3(3): 211-213

- Hosseinzadeh H, Nourbakhsh M (1989). Negative inotropic action of Rosemary oil, 1,8cineole and bornyl acetate. Planta Medica., 55: 106-107.
- Hostettmann K, and Marston A (2005). Saponins. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge
- Huber SC. Kerr PS and Kalt-Torres W (1985).:Regulation of sucrose formation and movement:In Regulation of Carbon Partitioning in Photosynthetic Tissue. (Heath RL. and Preiss J eds.). pp. 199-214. Waverley Press,Baltimore
- Hubert JJ (1980). Bioassay. Kendall Hunt Publishing Company (1980).
- Imaga NOA, Gbenle GO, Okochi VI, Akanbi SO, Edeoghon SO,Oigbochie V, Kehinde MO, Bamiro SB (2009). Antisickling property of *Carica papaya* leaf extract. African Journal of Biochemistry Research .3(4): 102-106.
- Inatani R.,Nakatani N.and Fuwa H.1983. Antioxidative effect of the constituents of rosemary (Rosemarinus officinalis L.) and their derivatives. Agriculture ,Biology and Chemimistry 47: 521–528.
- Irungu NB, Mbabu M.J, Kiboi DM., Moindi E., Kinyua J. and Romano M. (2012). In vivo antimalarial and acute toxicity properties of hexane and chloroform extracts from *Clausena anisata* (*Willd.*) *Benth.* .. African Journal of Pharmacology and Therapeutics 1: 24-29
- Iwu, M.M. (1993). Handbook of African Medicinal Plants. CRC Press. Boca Raton, Florida., pp147-148
- Jaleel CA, Panneerselvam R (2007). Variations in the antioxidative and indole alkaloid status in different parts of two varieties of Catharanthus roseus, an important folk herb. Chinese Journal of Pharmacology and Toxicology. 21(6):487–494.
- James A, Bilbiss L, Muhammad Y (2007). The effects of *Catharanthus roseus* (L) G. Don1838 aqueous leaf extract on some liver enzymes, serum proteins and vital organs. Science World Journal. 2:5–7.
- Jeruto P, Lukhoba C, Ouma G, Otieno D and Mutai C (2007). Herbal treatments in Aldai and Kaptumo divisions in Nandi district, Rift valley province, Kenya. The African Journal of Traditional, Complementary and Alternative medicines **5**: 103-105.

- Jeruto P, Lukhoba C, Ouma G, Otieno D and Mutai C (2008). An ethnobotanical study of medicinal plants used by the Nandi people in Kenya. Journal of Ethnopharmacology. 116: 370-376.
- Ji X.Y, Tan " Zhu BK and Salvia YZ (2000). Miltiorrhhiza and ischemic diseases .Acta pharmacological Sinica .21:1089–94.
- Johns T, Kokwaro J and Kimanani E (1990). Herbal remedies of the Luo of Siaya District, Kenya: Establishing quantitative criteria for consensus. Economic Botany 44: 369-381.
- Johnston S L (2006).:Macrolide antibiotics and asthma treatment Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology 117, 1233-1236
- Kachmar JF, Grant GH (1982). Proteins and Amino Acids. In: Tietz NW,(Ed.) Fundamentals of Clinical Chemistry. 2nd ed, WB. SaundersCompany, Philadelphia, USA. pp. 849-944
- Kakrani, Harish K, Kalyani GA (1983). Experimental evaluation of anthelmintic and purgative activity of *Myrsine africana* fruits. Ancient Science of life, **3(2)**: 82-84.
- Kaluwa CK, MbariaJM, Oduma JM, Kiama SG (2014).:Ethnobotanical study of medicinal plants traditionally used in Tana River County for management of illnesses.
 Asian Journal of Complementary and Alternative Medicine 02 (02): 01-05
- Karki, M. (2006).Medicinal Plants: Resources and Distribution. Global Non-Timber Forest Products (NTFP) Partnership, available from (accessed 26 Nov., 2013)
- Kaufman PB.,Cseke LJ.,Warber S., Duke JA.and Brielmann HL. (1999) Natural Products from Plants, (editions). CRC Press, Boca Raton FL:37-90
- Kaushansky L (1995). Thrombopoietin, the primary regulator of megakaryocyte and platelets production. Thrombosis and Haemostasis;74:521-525.
- Keinanen, M. (1993): Comparison of methods for the extraction of flavonoids from Birch leaves (*Betula pendula Roth*) carried out using High-performance liquid chromatography. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry . 41:1986-1990.
- Keter LK and Mutiso PC (2011). Ethnobotanical studies of medicinal plants used by Traditional Health Practitioners in the management of diabetes in Lower Eastern Province, Kenya. J. Ethnopharmacol. 139: 74-80.

- Kevin LY.,Hussin AH., Zhari I and Chin JH.(2012):Sub-acute oral toxicity study of methanol leaves extract of *Catharanthus roseus* in rats. Journal of Acute Disease 1(1):38-41.
- Khan S, F. Salloum, A. Das, L. Xi,G.W. Vetrovec R. and C.Kukreja C,(2006): Rapamycin confers preconditioning-like protection against ischemia–reperfusion injury in isolated mouse heart and cardiomyocytes Journal of Molecular and Cellular Cardiology 41, 256-300
- Kigen GK, Ronoh HK Kipkore WK, and. Rotich JK (2006). Natural Products as a Resource for Established and New Drugs. In: Pharmacodynamic Basis of Herbal Medicine, 2nd Edition Ebadi M (Editions). pp 49-64: CRC Press
- Kigen GK, Ronoh HK, Kipkore& Rotich J K (2013) . Current trends of traditional herbal medicine practice in Kenya: a review. International Journal of Clinical Pharmacology and Therapeutics 2(1):32-37
- Kinghorn AD, Pan L, Fletcher JN, Chai H. (2011). The relevance of higher plants in lead compound discovery programs. Journal of Natural Products **74(6)**: 1539-1555.
- Kinghorn, A.D. and Balandrin, M.F. (Editions .), ACS Symposium 534, American Chemical Society, Washington, D. C.: 112-137.
- Kipkorir BE, Welbourn F:.(2008): The Marakwet of Kenya. In A Preliminary Study By B.
 E. Chapter 2 edition. E.A.L.Bureau: Kipkorir, Frederick Burkewood Welbourn;:8-14.
 Open URL edition. E.A. L. Bureau: 8-14.
- Koehn FE, Carter GT. (2005): The evolving role of natural products in drug discovery. The Evolution of Natural Product Drug Discovery.;4:206–220
- Kokwaro JO. (1976): Medicinal Plants of East Africa. East African Literature Bureau, edition (Kenya), 10-368.
- Kokwaro JO. (1993) :Medicinal plants of East Africa. Second edition. Kenya literature Bureau. Nairobi: 401-450
- Kokwaro JO (2009). Medicinal Plants of East Africa, 3rd Ed. University of Nairobi Press.

Kokwaro, J. O.(1983). Medicinal plants of East Africa. Kenya Literature Bureau, Nairobi.
- Kolodziej H , Kiderlen A F , (2005): Antileishmanial activity and immune modulatory effects of tannins and related compounds on Leishmania parasitised RAW 264.7cells. Phytochemistry 66(17): 2056–2127.
- Krishnaraju AV, Rao-Tayi VN, Sundararaju D, Vanisree M, Tsay HS, Subbaraju GV (2005). Assessment of bioactivity of Indian medicinal plant using brine shrimp (*Artemia salina*) Lethality Assay. International Journal of Engineering Science 3(2): 125-134.
- Kupchan S M, Steyn P S, Grove M D, Horsfield S M, Meither S W (1969). Tumor inhibitors xxxv, Myrsine saponin, the active principle of Myrsine africana L. Journal of. Medicinal chemistry. 12(1): 167-9.
- Lai PK, Roy J (2004). "Antimicrobial and chemopreventive properties of herbs and spices". Current Medicinal Chemistry . **11** (**11**): 1451–1460.
- Laird, S.A.and K.ten Kate, (2002): Linking Biodiversity Prospecting and Forest Conservation. In: Selling Forest Environmental Services, S. Pagiola, J. Bishop, and N. Landell-Mills (editions.). Earthscan, London. pp. 151–172.
- Lam K S, (2006): Discovery of novel metabolites from marine Actinomycetes Current Opinion in Microbiology 9:245–251
- Lans CA (2006). Ethnomedicines used in Trinidad and Tobago for urinary problems and diabetes mellitus. Journal of Ethnobiology and Ethnomedicine. 2(45): 1745-1750
- Leahy DE (1997). Pharmacokinetics in early drug development. The report and recommendations of ECVAM Workshop 22. ATLA 25:17—31. (1997).
- Leal PF, Braga MEM, Sato DN, Carvalho JE, Marques MOM, Meireles MAA.(2003) "Functional properties of spice extracts obtained via supercritical fluid extraction", Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, (5) 2520-2525.
- Lee J, Chae K, Ha J, Byung-Young P, Lee HS, Jeong S, Min-Young K, & Yoon M.
 (2008):Regulation of obesity and lipid disorders by herbal extracts from *Morus alba*, *Melissa officinalis*, and *Artemisia capillaris* in high-fat diet-induced obese mice. Journal of Ethnopharmacology, 115: 263- 270.
- Lee KH. (1999). Novel antitumor agents from higher plants. Medicinal Research reviews 19(6); 569-596

Lindblad-Toh K. (2004). Genome sequencing: Three's company. Nature. 428(428) 475-476

- Lindhorst TK (2007). Essentials of Carbohydrate Chemistry and Biochemistry; Wiley-VCH: Weinheim,Germany Principles and practice of Medicine, 17th edition. Churchill Livingstone, Pp. 488 – 490.
- Lindsay RS and Hepper FN (1978). Medicinal plants of Marakwet, Kenya. Royal Botanic Gardens, Kew, United Kingdom, 114 127
- Liu M, M.D. Healy, B.A. Dougherty,K.M. Esposito, T. C. Maurice,C. E. Mazzucco, R. Bruccoleri E, D. B. Davison, M. Frosco, J. F.Barrett and Y. K. Wang, (2006). Conserved fungal genes as potential targets for broad-spectrum antifungal drug discovery. Eukaryotic Cell, (5), 638-672
- Logarto PA, Silva YR, Guerra SI, Iglesias BL. (2001). Comparative study of the assay of Artemia salinaL.and the estimate of the medium lethal dose (LD50 value) in mice, to determine oral acute toxicity of plant extracts.Phytomedicine; 8: 395–400.
- López-Lázaro M. (2007). Digitoxin as an anticancer agent with selectivity for cancer cells: Possible mechanisms involved. Expert Opinion on Therapeutic Targets.;11(8):1043-53.
- Lopez-Munoz F, Alamo C, Garcia-Garcia P (2006). "The herbs that have the property of healing.,": the phytotherapy in Don Quixote. Journal of Ethnopharmacol 7-19-2006;106(3):429-441
- Lotter K, Hocherl K, Bucher M and Kees F (2006): In vivo efficacy of telithromycin on cytokine and nitric oxide formation in lipopolysaccharide-induced acute systemic inflammation in mice Antimicrobial Chemotherapy 58, 615-619
- Lu L., Liu S W, Jiang S B, Wu S G. (2004). Tannin inhibits HIV-1 entry by targeting gp41 Acta Pharmacologica Sinica. 25(2) : 213–8.
- Mabry TJ & Gill JE (1979) :Sesquiterpenes lactones and other terpenoids. In their Interactions with Secondary Plant Metabolites (GA Rosental and TH Janzen, editors). London: Academic Press. pp. 501–537
- MacLennan AH, Wilson DH, Taylor AW (2002). The escalating cost and prevalence of alternative medicine. Preventive Medicine . 35:166–173

- Madiba SE (2010). Are biomedicine health practitioners ready to collaborate with traditional health practitioners in HIV and AIDS care in Tutume sub district of Botswana. African Journal of Traditional, Complementary and Alternative medicines. 7: 219-224.
- Makunga NP., Ohilander LE. and Smith M.(2008) : Current perspective on an emerging formal natural products sector in South African. Journal of Ethnopharmacology 119:365-375.
- Mangan JL (1988). Nutritional effects of tannins in animal feeds. Nutrition Research and Reviews; 1: 209-231.
- Mann, J. M (1994): Magic, and Medicine; Oxford University Press: New York, NY, USA,164-170. Marris E, (2006): Marine natural products: Drugs from the deep Nature, 443- 904
- Matheka DM, Alkizim FO, Kiama TN and Bukachi F (2012). Glucose-lowering effects of Momordica charantia (Karela) extract in diabetic rats. African. Journal of Pharmacology and Therapeutics. 1: 62-66.
- Mbaabu M. and Matu EN. (2013). Medicinal plants utilization in the treatment of human and livestock diseases in Meru. Pharmaceutical journal of Kenya (2)1:18-24.
- Mbuvi D. and Boon E. (2008): The livelihood potential of non-wood forest products: The case of Mbooni Division in Makueni District, Kenya. *Environment Development and Sustainability* 11(5):989-1004.
- McClintock, E. 1994. African Box: Myrsine africana, Pacific Horticulture 56,2: 46.
- McLaughlin, J.L.(1991): In Assays for Bioactivity Hostettmann K., Editions., Methods in Plant Biochemistry 6, Academic Press, 1 32.
- Meskin, Mark S. (2002). Phytochemicals in Nutrition and Health. CRC Press p. 123-274.
- Meyer BN.,Ferrigni N R.,Putnam JE.,Jacobson L B., Nichols D E., and J L.(1982):Brine shrimp, a convenient general bioassay for active plant constituents. Planta Medica, 45: 31-34.
- Michael B, Yano B, Sellers RS, Perry R, Morton D, Roome N, Johnson JK, Schafer K, Pitsch S ,(2007): Evaluation of organ weights of rodents and non-rodent toxicity

studies: a review of regulatory guidelines and a survey of current practices. Toxicologic **Pathology 35**:742-750.

- Milgate J. and Roberts D.C.K., 1995. The nutritional and biological significance of saponins. In: Nutrition Research., 15.p. 1223-1249.
- Misawa N (2011) Pathway engineering for functional isoprenoids. Current opinion in biotechnology, 22:627–633
- Mishra, B.B.; Tiwari, V.K (2011): Natural products: An evolving role in future drug discovery. European Journal of Medicinal Chemistry 46, 4769–4807.
- Misra A (2009). Studies on biochemical and physiological aspects in relations to phytomedicinal qualities and efficacy of the active ingredients during the handling, cultivation and harvesting of the medicinal plants. Journal of Medicinal Plant Research. 3: 1140-1146
- Morgan W.T.W. (1981). Ethnobotany of thehe Turkana: Use of Plants by a pastoral people and their livestock In Kenya. Economical Botany., **35**, pp 96-130
- Muchae J (2000). Indigenous Knowledge and Industry Property Rights: Kenyan Experience, Inter-Regional Workshop on intellectual Property Rights in the Context of Traditional Medicine, Bangkok.
- Mueller-harvey I, Mcallan AB (1992). Tannins: Their biochemistry and nutritional properties. Advances in plant cell biochemistry and biotechnology, Vol.1 Morrison IM ed. JAI Press Ltd, London (UK). 151-217.
- Mukhejee PK, Kumar V, Mal M, Houghton PJ (2007) Acetylcholinesterase inhibitors from plants. Phytomedicine 14: 289–300.
- Murata J, Roepke J, Gordon H, De Luca V (2008) The leaf epidermome of Catharanthus roseusreveals its biochemical specialization. Plant Cell, 20:524–542
- Nagata JM, Jew AR, Kimeu JM, Salmen CR, Bukusi EA and Cohen CR (2011). Medical pluralism on Mfangano Island: use of medicinal plants among persons living with HIV/AIDS in Suba District, Journal of ethnopharmacology 135 (2), 501-509,
- Nair MP, C. Kandaswami, S. Mahajan, H. N. Nair, R. Chawda, T.Shanahan and S. A. Schwartz S A (2002) .Grape seed extract proanthocyanidins downregulate HIV-1

entry coreceptors, CCR2b, CCR3 and CCR5 gene expression by normal peripheral blood mononuclear cells., Biological. Research. **35**, 421-423

- Nanyingi MO, Mbaria JM, Lanyasunya AL, Wagate CG, Koros KB, Kaburia HF, Munenge RW, Ogara WO (2008) Ethnopharmacological survey of Samburu district, Kenya. Journal of Ethnobiology and Ethnomedicine. 4: 14.-19
- National Coordinating Agency for Population & Development (NCAPD() 2008). Policy Brief No. 1: Seeking Solutions for Traditional Herbal Medicine: Kenya Develops a National Policy www.ncapd-ke.org. (Accessed on 20/05/2014).
- National Research Council (2006): Interim Report. Washington, DC, USA: National Academies Press; . Toxicity testing for assessing environmental agents
- NCAPD, 2004 (National Coordinating Agency for Population and Development) Kenya Service Provision Assessment Survey, Nairobi, 2005. National Coordinating Agency for Population and Development.(20/05/2014)
- Ncube NS, Afolayan AJ and Okoh AI (2008), Assessment techniques of antimicrobial properties of natural com-pounds of plant origin: Current methods and future trends. African Journal of Biotechnol.,7: 1797-1806
- Neves SR, Ram PT, Iyengar R. G protein pathways. Science 2002, 296, 1636-1639
- Newman DJ (2008) Natural products as leads to potential drugs: an old process or the newhopefor drug discovery? Journal of Medicinal Chemisry 51: 2589–2599.
- Newman DJ and Cragg GM (2006). Natural products from marine invertebrates and microbes as modulators of antitumor targets Current Drug Targets, 7 :279
- Newman DJ, Cragg GM and Snader KM (2003). Natural products as sources of new drugs over the period 1981-2002 Journal Natural Products ;66 (7):1022-37
- Newman, D. J.; Cragg, G. M.; Snader, K. M. (2007): The Influence of Natural Products Upon Drug Discovery. Natural. Natural products as sources of new drugs over the last 25 years. Journal of Natural Products. 70, 461–477.
- Newman, D.J. and Cragg, G.M. (2004) Marine natural products and related compounds in clinical and advanced preclinical trials. Journal of Natural Products, 67, 1216-1238.
- Nguta JM, Mbariaa JM, Gakuya D W, Gathumbi PK, .Kabasa JD and KiamaS G (2012) Evaluation of Acute Toxicity of Crude Plant Extracts from Kenyan Biodi-

versity using Brine Shrimp, Artemia salina L. (Artemiidae) The Open Conference Proceedings Journal, **3**, 30-34

- Nobori, T., Miurak, K., Wu, D.J., Takabayashik, L.A, Carson, D.A. (1994). Deletion of cyclin- dependent kinase-4 inhibitor gene in multiple human cancers. Nature, 46: 753-756.
- O'Brien KA, Xue CC (2003). The theoretical framework of Chinese medicine. In: Leung PC, Xue CC, Cheng YC, eds. A comprehensive guide to Chinese medicine. River Edge,NJ: World Scientific Publishing Co, pp. 47-84.
- Obidah W, Saad U A and Wurochekke A U(2009), "Toxic effects of aqueous stem bark extract of Cassia sieberiana on some biochemical parameters in rats", African Journal of Biochemistry Researc 3: 229-231
- Ochoki C. A. (1982). Plants and shrubs eaten by mothers during pregnancy and lactation and given to children as food or medicine. *A Research Project. Department Of Home Economics, Kenyatta University, Nairobi.*
- **OECD** (407):. Guidelines for the testing of chemicals. Repeated dose 28-day oral toxicity study in rodents.:10.
- **OECD** (423): Environment, Health and Safety Publications Series on Testing and Assessment No 24 guidance document on acute oral toxicity testing.
- **OECD**,(1996) .Acute Oral Toxicity-Acute Toxic Class Method. Paris: Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development..
- **Ohadoma SC and Micheal HU** (2011).Effects of co-administration of methanol leaf extract of Catharanthus roseus on the hypoglycemic activity of metformin and glibenclamide in rats. Asian Pacific journal of tropical biomedicine. **4**(**6**):475-477
- Oiye SO., Konyole S. and Ngala S. (2013): Effects of Rosemary Spice (*Rosemarinus Officinalis L.*) and Nitrite Picking Salt Combination on Keeping and Organoleptic Quality of Beef Sausages. Journal of Basic Application of Scientific Research 2(4)4008-4015.
- **Oketch–Rabah HA.(1996.):** Antimalarial and antileishmarial compounds from Kenyan medicinal plants. PhD thesis, Department of Medicinal Chemistry. The Royal Danish School of Pharmacy, Denmark, pages: 80-82.

- Ollivier S. Hammal N., Ameziane M, Labro T and de Prost D, (2006) Modulation of tissue factor expression by rapamycin and FK-506 in lipopolysaccharide-stimulated human mononuclear cells and serum-stimulated aortic smooth muscle cells. Journal of Thrombosis and Haemostasis.. 94: 46– 52.
- Olson H, Betton G, Robinson D, Thomas K, Monro A, Kolaja G, Lilly P, Sanders J, Sipes G, Bracken W, Dorato M, Deun KV, Smith P, Berger B, Heller A (2000): Concordance of toxicity of pharmaceuticals in humans and in animals. Regulatory Toxicology and Pharmacology, 32:56-67.
- Pal, S.K., Shukla, Y. 2003. Herbal Medicine: Current status and the future. Asian Pacific Journal of Cancer Prevention 4, 281-288.
- Parekh J, Chanda S (2007). Antibacterial and phytochemical studies on twelve species of Indian medicinal plants African journal of Biomedical Research,10: 175-181.
- Park M, Choi H, Kim J, Lee H, Ku S. (2010). 28 days repeated oral dose toxicity test of aqueous extracts of Mahwangyounpae-tang, a polyherbal formula. Food and Chemical Toxicology;48:2477–82
- Pharmacy and Poisons Board (PPB) (2010): Registration of Herbal and Complementary Products<http://www.pharmacyboardkenya.org/assets/files/herbalguildline.pdf>, Adapted on10/1/2014.
- Pieme CA, Penlap VN, Nkegoum B, Taziebou CL, Tekwu EM, Etoa FX,Ngongang J (2006). Evaluation of acute and subacute toxicities of aqueous ethanolic extract of leaves of *Senna alata* (L.) RoxbCeasalpiniaceae). African Journal of Biotechnology 5(3): 283-289.
- Pinkerton, C. R.; McDermott, B; Philip, J.; Biron, P; Andiet, C;Vandenberg, H. & Brunat-Mentigny, M. (1988). Continuous Vincristine infusion as part of a high dose chemo-radiotherapyregimen: Drug kinetic and toxicity. Cancer Chemotherapy and Phamacology 22(3): 271-274.
- Ponti J, Sabbioni E, Munaro B, Broggi F, Marmorato P, Franchini F, Colognato R, RossiF. (2009): Geotoxicity and morphological transformation induced by cobalt nanoparticles Screening of Herbal Medicines for Potential Toxicitiesand cobalt chloride: an in vitro study in Balb/3T3 mouse fibroblasts.Mutagenesis; 24: 439-45.

- Pooley, E. 2003. Mountain flowers. Field guide to the flora of the Drakensberg and Lesotho. Flora Publications Trust Durba
- Prajakta J. Patil, Jai S. Ghosh (2010): Antimicrobial Activity of *Catharanthus roseus* A Detailed Study. British Journalof Pharmacology and Toxicology: 1(1): 40-44.
- **Reed J. D.** (1995). Nutritional toxicology of tannins and related polyphenols in forage legumes. Journal of animal science.., (73), 1516-1528.
- Republic of Kenya Registration of Herbal and Complementary and natural Products (RKRHCP) (2010): Guidelines to Submission of Applications pharmacy and Poisons,
- Rhodes C, Thomas M, Athis J. (1993): Principles of testing for acute toxic effect ts. In General and Applied Toxicology, Ballantyne B, Marrs T, Turner P, Eds.; Stockton Press: New York, USA, 1Volume 1: pp 49-87.
- Riley,B. W. and Brokensha, D. (1988). The Mbeere in Kenya: Botanical Identities and Uses.Vol. II University Press of America, Lanham.
- Robinson, S., Ockert, D., Stei, P. and Dreher, D (2007). Challenging the regulatory requirement for conventional acute toxicity studies in pharmaceutical drug development toxicology., 231(2-3): :96
- Rohmer M (1999). The discovery of a mevalonate-independent pathway for isoprenoid biosynthesis in bacteria, algae and higher plants. Natural Products Report 16:565–74
- Rose DW, Bentley SA (1986). Evaluation of an automated hematology system Technicon H.Arch Pathology and Lab Medicine. 110: 803.
- Rukangira E (2001b). Medicinal Plants and Traditional Medicine in Africa: Constraints and Challenges. Conserve Africa International, Nairobi, Kenya (www.conserveafrica.org), adapted on 16/11/2013.
- Rukangira E (2001b). Medicinal Plants and Traditional Medicine in Africa: Constraints and Conserve Africa International, Nairobi, Kenya (www.conserveafrica.org), adapted on 16/11/2013
- Russell, W.M.S. and Burch, R.L., (1959). The principle of Humane Experimental Technique.London,http://altweb.jhsph.edu/publications/humane_exp/chp 2a.htm. [Accessed 25/05/2013

- Salomon E, N. A. Magarvey and D. H. Sherman, (2004): Merging the potential of microbial genetics with biological and chemical diversity: an even brighter future for marine natural product drug discovery Natural Products Report:21,105-109.
- Sancheti G & Goyal PK. (2006). Effect of *Rosmarinus officinalis* in modulating 7,12dimethylbenz(a) anthracene induced skin tumorigenesis in mice. Phytotherapy Research,20: 981-986.
- Sarkar FH, Banerjee S, Li YW (2006). Pancreatic cancer: Pathogenesis, prevention and treatment. Toxicology and Applied pharmacology, 224: 326-36.
- Sasidharan, S.; Darah, I.; Jain, K. (2008). In vivo and in vitro toxicity study of Gracilaria changii. Pharmaceutical Biology., 46, 413-417. 19
- Savithramma N, Linga Rao MandSuhrulatha D, (2011). Screen-ing of medicinal plants for secondary metabolites. Middle East Journal of Scientific Research. 8:579-584.
- Schorderet M. (1992). Pharmacologie des concepts fondamentaux aux applications theurapeutiques. Editions Slatkine Genève, Edition Frison-Roche Paris. pp. 33–34.
- Schripsema J, Ramos VA, Verpoorte R (1999). Robustaquinones, novel anthraquinones from an elicited Cinchona robusta suspension culture. Phytochemistry 5: 55-60
- Sebastian Lucas (2012). The Autopsy Pathology of Sepsis-Related Death, Severe Sepsis and Septic Shock Understanding a Serious Killer, Dr Ricardo Fernandez (Editions)
- Seibert H, Gulden M, Voss J-U (1994). An in vitro toxicity testing strategy for the classification and labeling of chemicals according to their potential acute lethal potency. *Toxicology in Vitro* 8:847-850
- Shackleton, C.M., Parkin, F, Chauke MI, Downsborough L,Olsen A, Brill G & C. Weideman. C. (2009). Conservation, commercialisation and confusion: Harvesting of *Ischyrolepis* in a coastal forest, South Africa. Environment Development and Dustainability 11:229-240
- Shah MB and Chauhan G(1996.) . Recent development of some natural products. In: Supplement to cultivation and utilization of medicinal plants. SS Honda and MK Koul (editions). RRL, Jammu, pp 53-96.

- Shah R, Parmar S, Bhatt P and Chandra S (2011), "Evaluation of hepatoprotective activity of ethyl acetate fraction of *Tephrosiapurpurea*", Pharmacologyonline, 3, 188-194.
- Shashi KR (2007). A toxicologist guide to the diagnostic interpretation of hepatic biochemical parameters. Food and chemical Toxicology 45: 1551-155
- Shaw D.,Leon C., Kolev S. and Murray V. (1995). Traditional remedies and food supplements: a 5-year toxicological study (1991-1995). Drug Safety 17:342-356.
- Shu Yue-Zhong, (1998). Recent natural products based drug development: a pharmaceutical industry perspective. Journal of Natural Products 61: 1053–1071.
- Sierpina VS, Wollschlaeger B,Blumenthal M. (2003): Ginkgo biloba.American Family Physician 68(5): 923-926.
- Sims M., Tomkins S., Judge K., Taylor G., Jarvis MJ. and Gilmore A. (2010) Trends in and determinants of second hand smoke exposure indexed by cotinine in children in England from 1996–2006. Addiction 105(3): 543–563.
- Sindiga I., Kanunah M. P., Aseka E. M. and Kiriga G .W. (1995). Kikuyu traditional medicine. In Sindiga I., Nyaigotti-Chacha, C & Kanuna. M. P. (editions). Traditional medicine in Kenya. East African Educational publishers, Nairobi.
- Singh VP. and Jagdev RD.(1996). Ajmalicine (raubacine) .A medicinally important alkaloid from *Catharanthus roseus* (*Vinca rosea*). pp. 199-206.
- Smit M J, Vink C, Verzij D, Casarosa P, Bruggeman CA and Leurs R (2003). Virally encoded G protein-coupled receptors: targets for potentially innovative anti-viral drug development, Current Drug Targets, 4, 431.
- Smith JI, Smart NJ, Kurz WGW (1987a). The use of organic and inorganic compounds to increase the accumulation of indole alkaloids in *Catharanthus roseus* (L). G. Don cell suspension cultures. The Journal of Experimental Botany . 38: 1501-1506
- **Sofowora A. 1993**. Phytochemical screening of medicinal plants and traditional medicine in Africa. 2nd Edition Spectrum Books Limited, Nigeria, pp150 – 156
- Sol'y's PN, Wright CW, Anderson MA, Gupta MP, Phillipson JD. (1993): Planta Med 1993; 59: 250–252.

- **Sparg SG, Light ME, van Staden J (2004)** Biological activities and distribution of plant saponins. Journal of Ethnopharmacology, 94:219–243
- Stallard N, (1995). Whitehead A. Reducing animal numbers in the fixed-dose procedure. Human & Experimental Toxicology;14:315–23.
- Stanley B.(2004): Recognition and respect for African Traditional Medicine". National Coordinating Agency for pupation and Development (NCAPD), "Draft Policy on Traditional Medicine and Medicinal Plants", Nairobi.
- Stewart KM (2003): The African cherry (Prunus africana): Can lessons be learned from an over-exploited medicinal tree? Journal of Ethnopharmacology. 89: 3-13.
- Stickel F, Egerer G, Seitz Hk (2003). Hepatotoxicity of Botonicals. Public Health Nutrition. 3:113–24.
- Stilles D. and Kassam. A. (1991). An ethnobotanical study of Gabra plant use in Marsabit District, Kenya. Journ. East Afric. Nat. Hist. Soc. & nat. Mus., 81, pp14-37.
- Stray, F. 1998. The Natural Guide to Medicinal herbs And Plants. Tiger Books International, London, pp. 12-16
- Strobe G, Daisy B, Castillo U, Harper J (2004). Natural products from endophytic microorganisms. Journal of Natural Products 67(2): 257-268.
- Svendsen O. (1994). Animal models in toxicological research and toxicity testing. In: Svendsen P, Hau J editions. Handbook of Laboratory Animal Science. Vol II, Animal Models. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press 32-67
- Szakiel A, Paczkowski C, Henry M (2011a) Influence of environmental abiotic factors on the content of saponins in plants. Phytochemistry Reviews volume 10:471–491
- Taddei I, Giachetti D, Taddei E, Mantovani P, Bianchi E (1988). Spasmolytic activity of peppermint. sage and Rosemary essences and their major Constituents. Fitoterapia, 59: 463-8.
- Tang HF, Cheng G, Wu J, Chen XL, Zhang SY, Wen AD, Lin HW(2009) Cytotoxic asterosaponins capable of promoting polymerization of tubulin from the starfish Culcita novaeguineae.Journal of Natural Products 72:284–289
- Tarus PK, Machocho AK, Langat TCC, Chhabra SC (2002). Flavonoids from *Tephrosia* aequilata. Phytochemistry; 60: 375-379

- Tatfeng, Y. M., Enitan, S. S. (2012). Effects of onion and garlic extracts on some immunologic cells. *African* Journal of Traditional, Complementary and Alternative medicine, 9(3); 374-379.
- Taylor, JL., RabeT., McGaw LJ., Jager AK. and Van Stande J. (2001): Towards the scientific validation of traditional medicinal plants. Plant .Growth Regulation 34:23-37.
- Thairu K (1975). The African Civilization. Nairobi: Oxford University Press.
- Thierry TA, Acha AE, Paulin N, Aphrodite C, Pierre K, Tazoacha A (2011). Subacute toxicity study of the aqueous extract from *Acanthus montanus*. Electronic Journal of Biology ;7(1):11-15.
- Thomas M, Athis J. (1993`): Principles of testing for acute toxic effects. In: General and Applied Toxicology. Vol 1(Ballantyne B, Marrs T, Turner P, editions). New York: Stockton Press, ;49-87
- **Trigg, P.I.** (1989). In Economic and Medicinal Plant ResearchVolume 3. Wagner, H.Hikino, H.,Farnsworth, N.R. (Edition.). Academic Press, London: 19-55.
- Ugwu, MN., Umar, IA., Utu-Baku, AB., Dasofunjo, K., Ukpanukpong, RU Yakubu, OE., Antioxidant Status and Organ Function in Streptozotocin-Induced Diabetic Rats treated with Aqueous, Methanolic and Petroleum Ether Extracts of Ocimum basilicum leaf Journal of Applied Pharmaceutical Science 3(4Suppl 1)2231-3354
- Ukelis, U., Kramer, P.J., Olejniczak, K. and Mueller, S.O., (2008). Replacement of in vivo acute oral toxicity studies by in vitro cytotoxicity methods: Opportunities, limits and regulatory status. Regulatory Toxicology and Pharmacology. 51:108-118
- Usia T, Watabe T, Kadota S, Tezuka Y (2005) Cytochrome P450 2D6 (CYP2D6) inhibitory constituents of Catharanthus roseus. Biological & Pharmaceutical Bulletin 28:1021–1024
- Vaghasiya YK, Shukla VJ, Chanda SV (2010). Acute oral toxicity study of Pluchea arguta boiss extract in mice. Journal of Pharmacology and Toxicology. ;6:113–123.
- Van Dyck S, Gerbaux P, Flammang P (2010) Qualitative and quantitative saponin contents in five sea cucumbers from the Indian Ocean. Marine Drugs volume 8:173–189

- Vasu K, Goud JV, Suryam A, Singara Chary MA (2009):.Biomolecular and phytochemical analyses of three aquatic angiosperms. African journal of microbiology research; 3(8):418-421.
- VedamurthyA B, . Krishna,V H (2011). Evaluation of *In-vitro* Anthelminthic Activity of *Catharanthus roseus* Extract Journal of Physiology and Pathophysiology. 3(2). 12-19,
- Veitch NC, Grayer R.(2007). Flavonoids and their glycosides including anthocyanins.Journal of Natural Product Reports. 21; 539 573.
- Verma S, Singh SP (2008). Current and future status of herbal medicines. Veterinary world 1(11): 347-350.
- Vimala Y, Jain R (2001). A new flavone in mature Catharanthus roseus petals. Indian of Plant Physioogy. ;6:187–189
- Vincken JP, Heng L, de Groot A, Gruppen H (2007) Saponins, classification and occurrence in the plant kingdom. Photochemistry 68:275–297
- Vinoth S, Rajesh Kanna P, Gurusaravanan P and Jayaba-lan N (2011), Evaluation of phytochemical, antimicrobial and GC-MS analysis of extracts of Indigofera tritaL.F. spp. Subulata (Vahl ex poir). International journal of Agricultural research. 6(4): 358-367
- Webster N.S, K. J. Wilson, L. L. Blackall and R. R. Hill (2001), Phylogenetic Diversity of Bacteria Associated with the Marine Sponge Rhopaloeides odorabile. Marine natural products: Drugs from the deep .Applied and Environmental Microbiology 67:434-452
- Westby M and. van der Ryst E, (2005): CCR5 antagonists: host-targeted antivirals for the treatment of HIV infection Antiviral Chem. Chemother, 16, 339-343.
- WHO (2004), Guidelines on safety monitoring of herbal medicines in pharmacovigilance systems
- WHO (2007): guidelines on good manufacturing practice (GMP) for herbal medicines.
- WHO (2008). Herbal medicine research and global health: an ethical analysis. Bulletin of the 86(8): 577-656.
- WHO. (2011): The world medicines situation (2011). Traditional medicines: Global situation,

issues).challenges.WHO/EMP/MIE/2011.2.3.http://apps.who.int/medicinedocs/docu ments/s18063en/s18063en.pdf. (accessed 20 may 2014

- Wink M (2003). Evolution of secondary metabolites from an ecological and molecular phylogenetic perspective. Phytochemistry 64: 3-19
- Wink, M. (2010): Functions and Biotechnology of Plant Secondary Metabolites; Wiley-Blackwell:Oxford, UK, ; 20-36
- Wink, M. and O. Schimmer: Modes of action of defensive secondary metabolites. In: "Function of Plant secondary metabolites and their exploitation in biotechnology" (M. Wink, ed.), Sheffield Academic Press and CRC Press, Annual Plant Reviews, Vol. 3, 17-133, 1999
- **World Health Organization (2000)**: General guidelines for methodologies on research and evaluation of traditional medicine: 35- 140.
- World Health Organization (WHO) (2002). The importance of pharmacovigilance- safety monitoring of medicinal product..http://apps.who.int/medicinedocs/en/d/Js4893e/1.html. (accessed 12 June 2014).
- Xu R , Zhao W , Xu J , Shao B , Qin G.(1996): Studies on bioactive saponins from Chinese medicinal plants. Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology ; 404 : 371–382.
- Zabta KS, Ashiq AK, Toshiyuki N (2003): Medicinal plants and other useful plants of District Swat, Pakistan. Al Aziz Press, Peshawar, Pakistan : 79-210
- Zenk MH, Juenger M (2007). Evolution and current status of the phytochemistry of nitrogenous compounds. Phytochemistry. ;68:2757–2772.
- Zhong GS, Wan F (1999) An outline on the early pharmaceutical development before Galen. Chinese journal of medicine History 29: 178–182
- Zhong HB, (1985). State administration of traditional Chinese medicine of the people's republic of China ,third edition. Shanghai Science and Technology Press: 245-295.
- Ziolkowska N E and A. Wlodawer A (2006): Structural studies of algal lectins with anti-HIV activity, Acta biochimica Polonica 621,617

- Zohrabi M, Ashtiyani1 SC, Hajihashemi1 S, Hassanpoor A and Hosseini N. (2012) :The study of 24 h post treatment effects of the aqueous extract of *Rosmarinus officinalis* after renal ischemia/reperfusion in rat Journal of Physiology and Pathophysiology Vol. 3(2), 12-19,
- Zulak K, Liscombe D, Ashihara H, Facchini P. (2006): Alkaloids. Plant secondary metabolism in diet and human health. Oxford: Blackwell Publishing; . 102–36.

APPENDICES

Appendix 1: Approval Letter of Biosafety, Animal use and Ethics Committee



	HEXANE	Surviv	ving shrimp	os after 2	24 hr out of 10				
	EXTRACTS								
	Conc.(µg/ ml).	1	2	3	Mortality	% mortality	probit	liner regression	LC 50
C. roseus	1000	0	0	0	30	100	7.33	y=3.67x-3.076	159.78
	100	4	3	3	20	66.7	5.43		
	10	10	10	10	0	0	0		
m.africana	1000	0	0	0	30	100	7.33	y=3.67x-4.887	498.52
	100	10	10	10	0	0	0		
	10	10	10	10	0	0	0		
R.officinalis	1000	0	0	0	30	100	7.33	y=3.67x-4.887	498.52
	100	10	10	10	0	0	0		
	10	10	10	10	0	0	0		
		DCM	Extracts						
C Roseus	1000	0	0	0	30	100	7.33	y=3.67x-4.887	498.52
	100	10	10	10	0	0	0		
	10	10	10	10	0	0	0		
M.africana	1000	0	0	0	30	100	7.33	y=3.67x-2.613	119.46
	100	9	10	10	29	96.7	6.82		
	10	10	10	10	0	0	0		
R.officinalis	1000	0	0	0	30	100	7.33	y=3.67x-3.163	168.8
	100	5	4	4	17	56.7	5.17		
	10	10	10	10	0	0	0		

APPENDIX 2: Brine shrimp assay for 4 organic extracts and one aqueous extract

	DCM: Methanol								
C Roseus	1000	0	0	0	30	100	7.33	y=3.67x-4.887	498.52
	100	10	10	10	0	0	0		
	10	10	10	10	0	0	0		
m.africana	1000	0	0	0	30	100	7.33	y=3.665x-4.887	498.52
	100	10	10	10	0	0	0		
	10	10	10	10	0	0	0		
R.officinalis	1000	0	0	0	30	100	7.33	y=3.67x-3.6367	227.27
	100	9	8	10	3	10	3.75		
	10	10	10	10	0	0	0		
	METHANOL:WA	ГER	(95:5)						
C Roseus	1000	0	0	0	30	100	7.33	y=.99x+4.52	3.05
	100	0	0	1	29	96.7	6.82		
	10	5	4	5	16	53.3	5.35		
m.africana	1000	0	0	0	30	100	7.33	y=.74x+5.34	0.34
	100	0	0	0	30	100	7.33		
	10	1	3	2	24	80	5.84		
R.officinalis	1000	0	0	0	30	100	7.33	y=3.67x-4.887	498.52
	100	10	10	10	0	0	0		
	10	10	10	10	0	0	0		
	Water Extract								
C Roseus	1000	2	3	1	24	80	5.84	y=2.92x-2.08	265.86
	100	3	3	4	20	66.7	5.44		
	10	10	10	10	0	0	0		
M.africana	1000	5	4	4	17	56.67	5.17	y=2.59x-3.4467	18205.05

	100	10	10	10	0	0	0		
	10	10	10	10	0	0	0		
R.officinalis	1000	0	0	0	30	100	7.33	y=3.665x-4.887	498.52
	100	10	10	10	0	0	0		
	10	10	10	10	0	0	0		
	Positive control								
	1000	10	10	10	30	100	7.33	y=.865x+4.967	3.1
	100	2	3	3	22	86.6	5.60		
	10	2	1	1	26	73.3	6.05		
	Control(Water)								
	1000	10	10	10	0	0	-		
	100	10	10	10	0	0			
	10	10	10	10	0	0			

Table showing the mortality, liner regression line and calculated LC_{50} of the 5 types of extracts of the 3 plants at concentration of 10,100 and 1000 µg/ ml µg/ ml.

Appendix 3: Baseline Parameters

	WBC		RBC	SD	PCV	SD	Hb	SD	MCV	SD	MCHC		MCHCH		Thromb.	SD
Control	13.132±	0.8	5.69±	0.2	34.84±	1.2	14.096±	0.2	63.8±	1.5	23.44±	1.9	38.66±	0.9	279.8±	30.9
500mg	13.82±	0.7	5.596±	0.3	37±	2.4	14.9±	0.3	62.62±	2.6	22.2±	1.3	39.1±	0.7	234.8±	19.3
1500mg	13.44±4	2.3	5.554±	0.5	36.4±	3.1	13.566±	0.7	63.2±	2.5	22.22±	1.1	37.5±	1.4	254.4±	15.2
3000m	13.398±	0.6	5.306±	0.5	36.64±	2.4	14.05±	1.3	62.38±	1.5	23.8±	1.3	38.38±	0.8	231.8±	6.1

Baseline Hematological parametres for sub-acute Testing

		Differ	ential WBC					
	Neutrophil	Sd	Lymphocytes	Sd	Eosophils	SD	Monocytes	SD
Control	20.4±	2.5	79.6±	1.82	1.2±	1.30	0.2±	0.45
500mg	19.±2	1.6	78.8±	3.42	1±	1.00	0.6±	0.55
1500mg	18.±2	9.8	76.6±	1.95	1±	1.23	0.8±	1.30
3000mg	19.4±	1.5	79.±8	3.42	1.4±	1.14	0.8±	1.30

	control		C.roseus 1000mg		C.roseus 5000mg		M.africa 1000mg	M.africana 1000mg		M.africana 5000mg		R.officinalis 1000mg		alis
WBC	9.36±	1.31	13.942±	9.31	10.91±	1.98	10.16±	1.51	9.18±	1.30	10.276±	1.37	11.1±	1.74
RBC	5.4±	0.23	5.57±	0.37	5.52±	0.26	5.5±	0.38	5.5±	0.40	5.46±	0.38	5.4±	0.31
PCV	35.2±	1.48	36.26±	0.95	36.28±	0.82	34.98±	1.66	35.8±	0.96	37.34±	0.83	37.46±	0.88
HB	13.28±	0.78	13.7±	0.83	13.24±	0.78	13.38±	0.89	13.22±	0.82	13.48±	0.87	13.62±	0.52
MCV	63.84±	0.85	63.88±	1.41	61.06±	3.98	62.44±	2.21	62.78±	1.20	63.54±	1.16	63.2±	0.45
MCH	23.28±	1.17	23.04±	1.61	22.54±	0.87	24.3±	1.18	23.92±	2.66	23.7±	1.53	23.42±	1.09
MCHC	37.3±	0.62	38.3±	0.87	38.54±	0.68	37.26±	1.44	36.04±	1.85	37.18±	1.09	37.46±	0.50
Thromb.	341.4±	27.75	343.8±	17.34	333.8±	19.31	337.6±	20.89	376.6±	16.52	346.8±	30.87	389.4±	34.78

Baseline Hematological parameters for acute Testing

		ALAT	SD	AST	SD	Creatinine	SD	Urea	S D	Protein	S D
Group 1-	Control	45 ±	2.5	43.5±	1.1	1.4±	0.3	40.92±	2.6	7.24±	0.5
Group 2-	C.roseus-1000mg	42.36±	4.4	39.78±	3.7	1.34±	0.3	43.12±	1.7	$7.42\pm$	0.9
Group 3-	C.roseus-5000mg	43.34±	1.1	$42.44\pm$	3.8	1.14±	0.2	39.96±	3.6	$7.28\pm$	0.3
Group4-	M.africana-1000mg	41.6±2	2.0	39.3±	1.7	1.4 ± 8	0.2	$42.94\pm$	4.6	7.26±	0.2
Group5-	M.africana-5000mg	$40.8\pm$	2.5	41.18±	1.0	1.72±	0.1	41.74±	2.1	7.24±	0.6
Group6-	R.officinalis-1000mg	39.66±	3.9	39.4±	5.7	1.42±	0.1	42.222±	2.7	$7.68\pm$	0.4
Group 7-	R.officinalis-5000mg	$44.642\pm$	6.4	40.0±2	4.1	1.5±	0.3	43.38±	4.6	6.94±	0.7

Baseline Biochemical parameters before acute toxicity testing

	ALAT	SD	AST	SD	Creatinine	SD	Urea	SD	Proteins	SD
Control	42.4 ±	2.1	53.66±	4.2	0.8±	0.1	40.16±	1.5	7.1±	0.4
500mg/kg bwt	$40.08\pm$	2.8	55.74±	4.3	0.96±	0.2	39.34±	1.6	6.84±	0.2
1500mg/kg bwt	41.76±	3.7	55.32±	4.0	0.86±	0.2	40.26±	2.2	6.62±	0.3
3000mg/kg bwt	40.78±	3.2	57.88±	2.3	0.9±	0.2	39.34±	3.2	6.88±	0.2

Baseline Biochemicals before sub –acute testing.